

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Journal of Fluorine Chemistry 129 (2008) 142-166

www.elsevier.com/locate/fluor

Review

Fluoroarylphosphines as ligands

Ciara L. Pollock^a, Graham C. Saunders^{a,*}, E.C.M. Sarah Smyth^a, Vladimir I. Sorokin^b

^a School of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Queen's University Belfast, David Keir Building, Belfast BT9 5AG, UK ^bDepartment of Organic Chemistry, Southern Federal University, 344090 Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation

Received 7 August 2007; received in revised form 22 October 2007; accepted 1 November 2007

Abstract

This short review concentrates on important aspects of fluoroarylphosphines, in particular their synthesis, ligand properties and chemical and catalytic properties of their complexes. Although the electronic, steric and chemical properties of fluoroarylphosphines have been known for 30 years, their use as ligands for homogeneous catalysis and in the synthesis of elaborate multidentate ligands has occurred more recently. The number of recent reports suggests that their importance is growing. © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

© 2007 Elsevier D.v. All lights reserved.

Keywords: Fluoroaryl; Phosphines; Ligands; Transition metal complexes; Catalysis

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	143		
2.	Synthesis				
	2.1.	Electrophilic phosphorus	143		
	2.2.	Nucleophilic phosphorus	146		
	2.3.	Palladium-mediated phosphorus-carbon coupling	147		
	2.4.	Hydrophosphination	148		
	2.5.	Reduction of phopshorus(V)	148		
	2.6.	Functionalization	148		
	2.7.	Other methods	149		
3.	Ligar	nd parameters	149		
	3.1.	Electronic properties	149		
	3.2.	Steric properties	150		
	3.3.	Other properties	150		
4.	Effec	ts on transition metal complexes	150		
	4.1.	Complex stability	150		
	4.2.	Reactivity	151		
	4.3.	IR spectroscopic properties	151		
	4.4.	M···F-C interactions	152		
5.	React	tions of coordinated fluoroarylphosphines	152		
	5.1.	Reactions involving C-F bond cleavage	152		
		5.1.1. Intermolecular C–F bond cleavage	152		
		5.1.2. Intramolecular C–F bond cleavage	152		
	5.2.	Reactions involving P–C bond cleavage	154		
	5.3.	Orthometallation.	154		

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: g.saunders@qub.ac.uk (G.C. Saunders).

^{0022-1139/\$ –} see front matter \odot 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jfluchem.2007.11.003

6.	Fluor	oarylphosphines as ligands for catalysis	154
	6.1.	Hydroformylation	155
	6.2.	Hydroacylation	156
	6.3.	Methanol carbonylation.	156
	6.4.	Methoxycarbonylation.	157
	6.5.	Alkene polymerization	157
	6.6.	Alkene/CO copolymerization	158
	6.7.	Baeyer-Villiger oxidation.	158
	6.8.	Hydrogenation	158
	6.9.	Hydrogen transfer.	159
	6.10.	Alkyne hydration	159
	6.11.	Methanol dehydrogenation.	160
	6.12.	Amination	160
	6.13.	Suzuki coupling	160
	6.14.	Heck coupling	160
	6.15.	Reductive coupling	161
	6.16.	Cyclopropanation and C-H insertion of diazo compounds	161
	6.17.	Silane alcoholysis.	162
	6.18.	Photoisomerization	162
	6.19.	Diene cycloisomerization.	162
	6.20.	Alkyne cyclotrimerization	162
7.	Fluor	oarylphosphines as ligands for stoichiometric reactions	163
8.	Final	comments	163
	Ackn	owledgements	163
	Refer	ences	163

1. Introduction

Since the first report of tris(pentafluorophenyl)phosphine in 1960 [1], many phosphines bearing fluoroaryl substituents have been synthesized and their coordination chemistry studied. Table 1 lists important examples showing the range of fluoroarylphosphines that have been reported. The earliest reference is given for each phosphine and those for which the structure has been determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction are marked ([†]) and the reference detailing the structure is also given if different from the earliest reference. (The positions of the aryl substituents are numbered sequentially from a phosphorus atom (position 1) and such that the positions of further phosphorus atoms, if present, are the lowest possible.)

This short review is concerned with the use of phosphines bearing fluoroaromatic substituents as ligands, and so focuses on their synthesis, ligand properties, and the reactions and catalytic properties of their complexes. It is not intended to be comprehensive, but rather to highlight important aspects of these ligands. For the purposes of this review fluoroarylphosphines are defined as compounds of trivalent phosphorus bonded only to carbon or hydrogen (PR_rH_{3-r}) , and bearing at least one aromatic substituent to which at least one fluorine atom is bonded (ArF). Phosphites (P(OR)₃), phosphonites (PR'(OR)₂), phosphinites (PR'₂(OR)) and their nitrogen analogues $(PR'_{r}(NR_{2})_{3-r})$, and metal phosphides (MPR₂) will not be discussed. Neither will phosphines bearing aromatic substituents to which fluorine is not directly bonded be discussed, excepting appropriate comparisons with (trifluoromethylphenyl)phosphines, $PR_x \{C_6H_{5-\nu}(CF_3)_{\nu}\}_{3-x}$. Discussion of reactions involving non-coordinated or coordinated fluoroarylphosphines will focus on those in which the fluorine plays an essential role in determining the product, for example nucleophilic attack at the fluoroaryl substituents, rather than general reactions of phosphines, such as oxidation to phosphine oxide.

Section 2 details the synthetic strategies for the preparation of fluoroarylphosphines. Along with the most commonly adopted methods, which involve nucleophilic attack at or by a phosphorus(III) reagent, other reactions that produce fluoroarylphosphines are given. Section 3 describes the ligand properties of fluoroarylphosphines, and Section 4 highlights the effects exerted on metal complexes, including complex stability and reactivity. Although the chemical properties conferred on phosphines by fluorine have been well known for many years, it is only relatively recently that there has been interest in their exploitation in, for example, the functionalization of coordinated phosphines to synthesize elaborate ligands (Section 5) and homogeneous catalysis (Section 6).

2. Synthesis

2.1. Electrophilic phosphorus

The most commonly used method for preparing polyfluoroaryl phosphines is that shown in Scheme 1.

Fluoroaryl Grignard reagents are readily generated from fluorobromoarenes. Lithium reagents can be generated from fluorobromoarenes by transmetallation or less conveniently by deprotonation of polyfluoroarenes. These reagents are nucleophilic and readily react with electrophilic phosphorus reagents, in particular phosphorus mono-, di- and tri-halides. Typically diethyl ether or THF is used as solvent, and low temperatures 144

Table 1
Examples of fluoroarylphosphines ^a

R ₂ PArF	-	RP(ArF) ₂	P(ArF) ₃	Polyphosphines
Pentafluorophenyl $R_2P(C_6F_5)$: $R = H A [2],$ Me, $Ph^{\dagger} A [3,4], C_6F_5C =$ $PhP(C_6F_5)C_6H_4SMe-2 A [6]$ $Ph_2P(\eta^6-C_6F_5)Cr(\eta^6-C_6H_6)$	≡C A [5] 5] A [7,8]	RP(C ₆ F ₅) ₂ : R = H A [2], Me, Ph A [3], <i>cyclo</i> -C ₅ Me ₅ A [10], MeC≡C, PhC≡C A [11], C ₆ F ₅ C≡C A [12], MeOC≡C A [13], C ₆ H ₄ SMe-2 A [14], CH ₂ C(CF ₃) ₂ OH A [15]	$P(C_6F_5)_3^{\dagger} A [1,16]$	$\begin{array}{l} (C_{6}F_{5})_{2}PCH_{2}P(C_{6}F_{5})_{2} \ (dfppm)^{\dagger} \ A \ [17,18] \\ (C_{6}F_{5})_{2}PCH_{2}CH_{2}P(C_{6}F_{5})_{2} \ (dfppe)^{\dagger} \ A \ [19,20] \\ (C_{6}F_{5})PhPCH_{2}CH_{2}PPh(C_{6}F_{5}) \ A \ [21] \\ (C_{6}F_{5})_{2}PC \equiv CPPh_{2} \ A \ [11] \\ \{(C_{6}F_{5})_{2}P\}_{2}C = C = O \ A \ [22] \\ \{(C_{6}F_{5})_{2}PC_{6}H_{4}-2\}_{2}O \ A \ [23] \\ C_{6}H_{4}\{CH_{2}P(C_{6}F_{5})_{2}\}_{2}-1,3 \ A \ [24] \end{array}$
P(C ₆ F ₅)	A [9]			(C_6F_5) MeP PMe (C_6F_5) A rac [†] [25]
				$(C_6F_5)_2 \xrightarrow{P} P(C_6F_5)_2$ A [26]
2,3,4,5-Tetrafluorophenyl Ph ₂ P(C ₆ F ₄ Br-2) <i>A</i> [27] Ph ₂ P(C ₆ F ₄ SMe-2) <i>A</i> [27]		$PhP(C_6F_4SMe-2)_2 A [27]$	$P(C_6F_4Br-2)_3 A$ [28] $P(C_6F_4)_3E E = As, Sb A$ [28]	$(C_6HF_4)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6HF_4)_2 A$ [29] $C_6F_4(PR_2)_2 R = Me A$ [30], Ph A [27] PhP($C_6F_4PPh_2)_2 A$ [27] PhP($C_6F_4)_2PPh A$ [31] P($C_6F_4)_3P$ (see Section 2.7) [32]
2,3,5,6-Tetrafluorophenyl Me ₂ P(C ₆ F ₄ Y-4) Y = H, CF Ph ₂ P(C ₆ F ₄ Y-4) Y = OMe, I $\{CF_2CF(CF_3)O\}_nC_3F_7 n =$	3, Cl <i>B</i> [33] NMeH <i>F</i> [34], 1,2, 4 <i>A</i> [35]	PhP($C_6F_4SiMe_3-4$) ₂ A [36]	P(C ₆ F ₄ Y-4) ₃ Y = NH ₂ , NMe ₂ , NHNH ₂ , OMe <i>F</i> [37], CF ₃ , C ₆ F ₄ CF ₃ <i>A</i> [38], OC ₆ F ₅ -4 <i>A</i> [39] OC ₆ F ₄ CF ₃ <i>A</i> [38], CF ₂ CF(CF ₃)OC ₃ F ₇ , (CF ₂ CF(CF ₃)O) ₅ C ₃ F ₇ <i>A</i> [35]	$C_{6}F_{4}(PMe_{2})_{2} B [33]$ $F \qquad F \qquad$
2,3,5,6-Tetrafluoropyridyl $R_2P(C_5F_4N) R = Me B [33]$ Pr^i , Ph B [41] $PRBu'(C_5F_4N) R = H$, Me, 2,3,4,5-Tetrafluoropyridyl], Pr ⁱ B [41]	$PR(C_5F_4N)_2 R = Bu^t, Ph B [41]$	P(C ₅ F ₄ N) ₃ B [41]	Ph ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ PPh(C ₅ F ₄ N) B [42]
$Bu_{2}^{t}P(C_{5}F_{4}N) B [41]$				Dh DCH CH CH D(C H E) A [43]
2,3,6-Triffuoronhenyl			$P(C_6H_2F_3)_3 A [44]$	11121 CH2CH2CH21 (C6H21 3/2 A [+5]
2.4.5 Triffuoronhonyl				
2,4,5-11 muor opnenyi				$(C_6H_2F_3)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_2F_3)_2 A$ [45]
3,4,5-1riffuorophenyl	; ₃) A [9]	$(MeO-4-C_6H_4)P(C_6H_2F_3)_2 A$ [46]	$P(C_6H_2F_3)_3 A$ [47]	$(C_6H_2F_3)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_2F_3)_2 A$ [48] Ph_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_2F_3)_2 A [49]

Table 1 (Continued)			
R ₂ PArF	$RP(ArF)_2$	P(ArF) ₃	Polyphosphines
2,3-Difluorophenyl Me ₂ P(C ₆ F ₂ H ₃) <i>B</i> [50] Ph ₂ PC ₆ F ₂ Br ₂ H-4 <i>A</i> [51]			$R_{2}P$ F Br PR_{2} $X = Br, R = Pr^{i}, Ph^{\dagger}; X = Cl, Ph^{\dagger} A [51]$
2,4-Difluorophenyl			(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ P(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ A [45]
2,5-Difluorophenyl		P(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₃ A [44]	PR_2 PR_2 PR_2 PR_2 PR_2
			$R = Et B [52], Ph^{T} B [53]$ $C_{6}H_{2}F_{2}(PPh_{2})_{2}-1,4^{\dagger} B [54,55]$ $Ph_{2}P + PR_{2}$ $R_{2}P + PPh_{2}$ F
			$R = Et^{\dagger}, Pr^{i\dagger}, Ph^{\dagger} A [56]$ $C_{6}R_{2}F_{2}\{P(C_{6}H_{2}Me_{3}-1,3,5)Ph_{2}\}_{2}-1,$ $4 R = Ph, Bu^{n} B [40]$
2,6-Difluorophenyl PMe ₂ (C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) [†] <i>B</i> [50] PPh ₂ (C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) [†] <i>A</i> [57]	$PPh(C_6H_3F_2)_2^{\dagger} A$ [57]	$P(C_6H_3F_2)_3^{\dagger}A$ [58,57]	$(C_6H_3F_2)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_3F_2)_2^{\dagger}A$ [59]
3,4-Difluorophenyl	$(MeO-4-C_6H_4)P(C_6H_3F_2)_2 A$ [46]	$P(C_6H_3F_2)_3 A$ [60]	
3,5-Difluorophenyl	$HP(C_{6}H_{3}F_{2})_{2} E [61]$ $HP(C_{6}H_{2}F_{2}OMe-4)_{2} E [61]$ $O = O = O = O = O = O = O = O = O = O =$	P(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₃ A [63]	(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ PCH ₂ P(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ <i>A</i> [64] (C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ PPh(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) <i>A</i> [65] Ph ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ P(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ <i>A</i> [49]
	Ph (<i>R</i> , <i>R</i>) R = C ₆ H ₂ F ₃ -3,5 <i>C</i> [62]		Ph ₂ PCH ₂ CH ₂ CH ₂ P(C ₆ H ₃ F ₂) ₂ A [43]
2-Fluorophenyl Ph ₂ P(C ₆ H ₄ F) <i>A</i> [66]	PhP(C ₆ H ₄ F) ₂ A [67]	P(C ₆ H ₄ F) ₃ A [67]	$(C_{6}H_{4}F)_{2}PCH_{2}CH_{2}P(C_{6}H_{4}F)_{2}$ $(C_{6}H_{4}F)_{2}$ $(C_{6}H_{4}F)$



^a For each phosphine the earliest reference is given. Phosphines for which the structure has been determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction are marked ([†]) and the reference detailing the structure is also given if different from the earliest reference. The method of preparation is denoted by: A using electrophilic phosphorus reagents (see Section 2.1), B using nucleophilic phosphorus reagents (see Section 2.2), C using palladium-mediated phosphorus-carbon coupling (see Section 2.3), D by hydrophosphination (see Section 2.4), E by reduction of phosphorus(V) (see Section 2.5), and F functionalization of fluoroarylphophines (see Section 2.6). Other fluoroarylphosphines are mentioned in the text. 2,3,4,6-Tetrafluorophenylphosphines, 2,3,4,6-tetrafluoropyridylphosphines, 2,3,4-trifluorophenylphosphines and 2,3,5-trifluorophenylphosphines have not been reported.

are used for reactions involving lithium reagents. A polymersupported halodiphosphine, prepared by treating Merrifield's resin with tert-butylamine and 1,2-bis(dichlorophosphino)ethane, has allowed the synthesis of asymmetrically substituted diphosphines, such as (C₆H₃F₂)₂PCH₂CH₂PPh- $(C_6H_3F_2)$, in moderate to high yields (Scheme 2) [65].

The cleavage of P-C(ArF) bonds of non-coordinated phosphines by nucleophilic metal reagents has been reported (Scheme 3) [83]. However, an attempt to prepare $(C_6F_5)_2PC_6H_4SMe-2$ by the treatment of $P(C_6F_5)_3$ with LiC₆H₄SMe-2 yielded a mixture of P(C₆F₅)₃, (C₆F₅)P(C₆H₄- $SMe-2)_2$ and the desired product, but this was isolated in only 4% yield [84].

Pentafluorophenylphosphines have also been prepared from pentafluorophenyltrimethylsilane (Scheme 4), although the yields were moderate [85].



2.2. Nucleophilic phosphorus

The electronegativity of fluorine renders polyfluoroarylphosphides, $[(ArF)_2P]^-$ or $[(ArF)RP]^-$, only weakly nucleophilic [86]. The lack of reaction with most electrophiles precludes the syntheses of phosphines by a route which is extremely convenient for non-fluorinated phosphines, such as dppe, which is prepared by the reaction between diphenylphosphide and 1,2-dichloroethane [87]. However, since fluoroaromatic compounds undergo S_NAr reactions [88], phosphines bearing only one fluoroaromatic substituent may be synthesized readily by the reaction between a polyfluoroaromatic compound and a nucleophilic phosphide, secondary phosphine or equivalent. The success of the synthesis is highly dependent on the nucleophilicity of the phosphorus reagent, the nature of the substrate and the temperature. Typically substitution occurs para to substituents [88], and this can be used to direct the positions of di- and poly-substitution, for example in the syntheses of chelating ortho-fluorophenylene bridged diphosphines [53].

Phosphides have been used to synthesize phosphines from polyfluorobenzenes. For example, C₆F₄{P(C₆H₂Me₃- $2,4,6_{2}$ $_{2}-1,4$ was synthesized by the reaction between



$$P(C_6F_5)_3 + EtMgBr \xrightarrow{Et_2O} EtP(C_6F_5)_2 + C_6F_5MgBr$$

Scheme 3

NaP($C_6H_2Me_3-2,4,6$)₂ and hexafluorobenzene in THF at 0 °C [40], $C_6H_2F_2$ -2,5-(PPh₂)₂-1,4 was synthesized by the reaction between 1,2,4,5-tetrafluorobenzene and two equivalents of LiPPh₂ in THF [54], and the phosphine enolate $Bu^{t}P=C(OLi)Bu^{t}$, underwent reaction with pentafluoropyridine at ambient temperature to give a quantitative yield of $Bu^{t}P\{C(=0)Bu^{t}\}(C_{5}F_{4}N-4)$ [41]. In reactions involving phosphides care must be taken to control both stoichiometry, to avoid complete substitution of fluorine [89], and temperature, since the reactions involving highly fluorinated aromatic groups or those bearing strongly electron-withdrawing groups are strongly exothermic leading to undesirable reactions and decomposition. For example, the reaction between diphenylphosphide and tetrafluorophthalonitrile in THF at 0 °C produced intractable tars [53]. The latter problem can be overcome by the use of secondary phosphines or trimethylsilyl- or trimethylstannyl-phosphines.

Although much less nucleophilic than phosphides, secondary phosphines react smoothly with some highly fluorinated aromatic compounds bearing strongly electron-withdrawing groups. For example tetrafluorophthalonitrile underwent nucleophilic attack by diphenylphosphine at 100 °C in acetonitrile to give $C_6F_2(CN)_2$ -4,5-(PPh₂)₂-1,2 in 60% yield [53]. The secondary phosphine HPPh(C_6F_5) underwent reaction with hexafluoroacetone to form PhP(C_6F_5)C(CF₃)₂OH, although this readily decomposed to the starting materials amongst other compounds, but the phosphine HP(C_6F_5)₂, which is less nucleophilic, failed to react with hexafluoroacetone [90].

Trimethylsilylphosphines [33,41,42,50] and trimethylstannylphosphines [33] have been reported to react with polyfluoroarenes giving products in high yields. The driving force for the reaction is the strength of the Me₃Si–F and Me₃Sn–F bonds. The reactions are usually performed at elevated temperature and are complete after a few hours, although some, for example that between Me₃SiPHBu^{*t*} and pentafluoropyridine, can be performed at ambient temperature but require longer times (days) to reach completion [41]. Phosphines with more than one polyfluoroaryl substituent have also been synthesized by this method; the pentafluoropyridylphosphines $R_xP(C_5F_4N-4)_{3-x}$ (x = 0, 1, R = Ph, Bu^{*t*}) were synthesized in high yields by the reaction between the trimethylsilylphosphines $R_xP(SiMe_3)_{3-x}$ and pentafluoropyridine [41].

2.3. Palladium-mediated phosphorus-carbon coupling

In contrast to the non-fluorinated analogues, the synthesis of the phosphinoimidazoline 1 cannot be carried out using a S_NAr reaction due to the low nucleophilicity of fluoroarylphosphides.

1





However, **1** was synthesized in 32% yield by a palladiumcatalysed coupling reaction (Scheme 5) [62].

A similar palladium-catalysed coupling was used to prepare HPBu^{*t*}(C₆H₄F-4) from IC₆H₄F-4 and Me₃SiPHBu^{*t*} [91]. Palladium-catalysed substitution of triflate has also been used in the synthesis of the chiral diphosphine **2** (Scheme 6) [92].

2.4. Hydrophosphination

Ph₂PCH₂CH₂P(C₆H₄F-3)₂ and Ph₂PCH₂CH₂P(C₆H₄F-4)₂ were prepared in 78% and 73% yields, respectively, by base catalyzed addition of (ArF)₂PH across the vinyl bond of Ph₂PCH=CH₂ [71]. (Ph₂PCH₂CH₂P(C₆H₄F-3)₂ has also been synthesized by addition of $[C_6H_4F]^-$ to Ph₂PCH₂CH₂PCl₂[49].)

2.5. Reduction of phopshorus(V)

Phosphine oxides ($R_3P=O$) are typically prepared by oxidation of the phosphine. However, they may also be prepared by the treatment of phosphoryl halides with fluoroaryl metal reagents in high yields, *e.g.* Ph₂PO(C₆H₃F₂-2,4) [93]. The reduction of phosphine oxides provides another route to fluoroarylphosphines. For example, the reduction of difluoroaryl-substituted secondary phosphine oxides by di-*iso*butylaluminium hydride (DIBAL-H) has been accomplished in high yields: HP(C₆H₂F₂-3,5-R-4)₂ were prepared in 80% (R = H) and 90% (R = OMe) yield from HPO(C₆H₂F₂-3,5-R-4)₂ [60]. The synthesis of enantiopure (–)-bis(phosphino)-1,1'binaphthyl **3** involved reduction of the dioxide, which was necessary for resolution (Scheme 7) [94].

2.6. Functionalization

The susceptibility of fluoroarenes to nucleophilic attack [88] offers an attractive route to their functionalization. However,

the susceptibility of the P–C(ArF) bond to cleavage by nucleophiles can be problematic to the synthesis of the desired product.

A number of phosphines have been prepared by treatment of pentafluorophenylphosphines with oxygen and nitrogen nucleophiles. Ph₂P(C₆F₄Y-4) Y = OMe, NMeH [34] and P(C₆F₄Y-4)₃ Y = NH₂, NHPh, NMe₂, NEt₂, NHNH₂, NHNMe₂, NHNHPh, OMe [37] were obtained from $Ph_2P(C_6F_5)$ and $P(C_6F_5)_3$. The reaction between $P(C_6F_5)_3$ and $OP(NMe_2)_3$, yielding P(C₆F₄NMe₂₋4)₃, was particularly rapid, reaching completion in 10 min. The reactions between $P(C_6F_5)_3$ and, respectively, PhNH₂, PhNHNH₂ and R₂NCOH were slower and the mono- and bis-substituted products were also observed. Of note is that treatment of the phosphine oxide $OPPh_2(C_6F_5)$ with MeNH₂ in benzene gave predominantly the ortho-substituted product $OPPh_2(C_6F_4NHMe-2)$, which is presumed to arise from a NH···O interaction [34]. Treatment of $P(C_6F_5)_3$ with thiolates lead to P-C bond cleavage [37]. Evidently the nature of the nucleophile is important in determining whether nucleophilic attack occurs at carbon or phosphorus.

The reaction between $P(C_6F_5)_3$ and C_6F_5Li yielded a mixture of $P(C_6F_5)_{3-x}(C_6F_4C_6F_5-4)_x$ (x = 1-3). The phosphines were not separated but identified by GC/MS analysis [95]. The reaction may occur by either or both of nucleophilic attack of C₆F₅Li on the carbon atoms *para* to phosphorus and nucleophilic attack at phosphorus by C₆F₅C₆F₄Li-4, the formation of which was evidenced by the production of $C_{6n}F_{4n}H_2$ (n = 2, 3) and $C_{6n}F_{4n+1}H$ (n = 1-4). The latter mechanism is supported by the observations that $P(C_6F_5)_{3-x}(C_6F_4C_6F_5-4)_x$ (x = 1-3) and similar polyfluorinated polyphenylphosphines, although expected as by-products, have not been isolated in more than small yields from the reaction between PX₃ and an excess of C₆F₅MgBr, the yields of P(C₆F₅)₃ being high, and that Grignard and lithium hydrocarbyls have been reported to cleave P-C(ArF) bonds [83,84].

5-Phenyl-octafluorodiphenzophosphole, $PhP(C_6F_4)_2$, underwent nucleophilic attack by dimethylamine and methoxide at



Scheme 7.





the 3 position giving PhP(C_6F_3Y -3)₂ (Y = NMe₂, OMe) [81]. In contrast nucleophilic attack occurred at the 4-position of the phosphole oxide PhPO(C_6F_4)₂. Reduction of this product by trichlorosilane gave PhP(C_6F_3 NMe₂-4)₂.

Nucleophilic substitution of fluorine can also be important for the synthesis of phosphines with non-fluorinated substituents, for example the preparation of **4** (Scheme 8) [96].

2.7. Other methods

Other reactions have produced fluoroarylphosphines, although these have been synthesized more conveniently and in higher yields by the routes described in the previous sections. For example, the phosphines $P(C_6F_5)_3$ and $P(C_6F_5)_2(C_6F_4C_6F_5-4)$ were detected in the reaction between PPh₃ and C_6F_5Li prepared from C_6F_5H and n-BuLi, although not in the reaction between PPh₃ and C_6F_5Li prepared from C_6F_5Br and n-BuLi [95]. The diphosphine $P(C_6F_4)_3P$ was first prepared in 15% yield by heating red phosphorus and 1,2-diiodotetrafluorobenzene in a sealed tube at 250 °C for 3 days [32], but has since been prepared by the reaction between $P(C_6F_4Li-2)_3$ and PCl_3 [28]. Coupling of coordinated diphenylphosphide and pentafluorophenyl ligands has been observed on oxidation of platinum and palladium complexes, as in Scheme 9 [97].

3. Ligand parameters

When considering ligand properties, the most important effects of fluorination of arylphosphines are those that impact on the phosphorus atom, since in the overwhelming majority of complexes the phosphorus atom is coordinated to the metal. In only a very few examples, such as $[(\eta^6-C_6H_6)Cr(\eta^6-C_6F_5)PPh_2]$ [7,8] and $[Fe\{\eta^5-C_5H_4P(C_6F_5)_2\}_2]$ [98], are substituents bound to a metal whilst phosphorus is not. The two most obvious effects of fluorination are the lowering of phosphine basicity and the increase in bulk, although other

factors, such as ligand flexibility and the bite angle for bidentate ligands, are also important. These factors are not independent and often display non-linear relationships [99].

3.1. Electronic properties

Fluorine is strongly σ -withdrawing, but also acts as a π donor. These properties are reflected in the Hammett constants $\sigma_{\rm m}$ and $\sigma_{\rm p}$ for the substituent in the *meta* and *para* positions, respectively, and the Swain-Lupton constants *F* and *R*, which are measures of the field and inductive effects, and resonance effects, respectively, [100]. These are given in Table 2 with those of other electron-withdrawing groups for comparison. The strongly σ -withdrawing nature is indicated by the value of *F* of 0.45 and the π -donor ability by the value of *R* of -0.39. As a consequence fluoroaryl substituents decrease the basicity of phosphines relative to their perprotio analogues. In general basicity decreases with the degree of fluorination, but since the electron-withdrawing effect of fluorine is much stronger when it occupies a *meta* position, for which resonance effects are minimal, than the *para* position; the pattern of fluorination is

Table 2	
Hammett and modified Swain-Lupton constants [100]	

	$\sigma_{ m m}{}^{ m a}$	$\sigma_{ m p}{}^{ m a}$	$F^{\mathbf{b}}$	R^{b}
Fluorine	0.34	0.06	0.45	-0.39
Chlorine	0.37	0.23	0.42	-0.19
Bromine	0.39	0.23	0.45	-0.22
Trifluoromethyl	0.43	0.08	0.38	0.16
Pentafluorophenyl	0.32	0.03	0.27	0.00
Nitrile	0.56	0.66	0.51	0.15
Nitro	0.71	0.78	0.65	0.13

^a $\sigma_{\rm m}$ and $\sigma_{\rm p}$ are the Hammett constants for the substituent in the *meta* and *para* positions, respectively.

^b F and R are Swain-Lupton constants, which are measures of the field and inductive effects, and resonance effects, respectively.

Table 3			
Electronic	parameters	of substituents	[101]

Substituent	$\chi \ (cm^{-1})^a$	Substituent	$\chi (cm^{-1})^a$	
Me	2.6	C_6H_4F-4	5.0	
Et	1.8	C_6H_4F-3	6.0	
Ph	4.3	C_6F_5	11.2	

^a ν (C==O) for (R¹R²R³P)Ni(CO)₃ = 2056.1 + χ (R¹) + χ (R²) + χ (R³) cm⁻¹.

also important. For example, $P(C_6H_4F-3)_3$ is less basic than $P(C_6H_4F-4)_3$ (Table 3).

The effect of fluorination is manifested in the IR spectroscopic properties of complexes containing one or more carbonyl ligands (see Section 4.3). The value of $\nu(C\equiv O)$ for LNi(CO)₃ has been used to obtain an electronic parameter χ for substituents (Table 3) [101]. Lowering the basicity of the phosphine leads to less back-donation into the carbonyl π^* orbital and a higher value of $\nu(C\equiv O)$.

Although quantifying the electronic effects of phosphines from these data is not always appropriate since other factors, such as complex geometry and steric factors, cannot be ignored, the data do provide an indication of the effect of fluorination on phosphines and their complexes. More sophisticated ligand parameters, typically derived from X-ray structural data, kinetic data and equilibrium constants as well as infrared spectroscopic studies of carbonyl complexes, have been proposed as a means to quantify the electronic effects of ligands on the properties of complexes [102].

3.2. Steric properties

The fluorine atom is larger than the hydrogen atom (covalent radii 0.68 Å *versus* 0.32 Å [103], van der Waals' radii 1.47 Å *versus* 1.20 Å [104]) and aryl C–F bonds are longer than analogous C–H bonds (1.34 Å *versus* 1.08 Å [105]). As a consequence C–F is isosteric with C–OH or C=O not C–H [106] and polyfluorinated organic molecules are much bulkier than their perprotio analogues. The increased bulk leads to increased steric pressure when fluorine occupies the *ortho* positions of the aryl substituents of phosphines. The concept of cone angle, θ , which is determined from structural data determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction, is an attempt to quantify this [101], and, although simplistic, it is generally accepted as a guide to the steric impact of phosphine ligands. Table 4 presents the cone angles of some important fluoroarylphosphines and other phosphines for comparison.

3.3. Other properties

The high electronegativity of fluorine polarizes the C–F bond such that the fluorine is negatively charged, whereas the C–H bond is polarized conversely. Therefore, in salts of cationic complexes of fluoroarylphosphines the anions are expected to be closer to the non-fluorinated ligands, with which an attractive interaction is expected. This has been found in the solid state structures of the salts $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)RhCl (dfppe)]BF_4$ [107] and $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)Ru(NCMe)(dfppe)]PF_4$

Table 4	
Cone angles	[101,102]

Phosphine	Cone angle (°)	Phosphine	Cone angle (°)
PH ₃	87	MePPh(C ₆ F ₅)	149
PMe ₃	118	$PPh_2(C_6F_5)$	158
PEt ₃	132	$MeP(C_6F_5)_2$	162
PPh ₃	145	$EtP(C_6F_5)_2$	167
$H_2P(C_6F_5)$	119	$PPh(C_6F_5)_2$	171
$Me_2P(C_6F_5)$	140	$P(C_6F_5)_3$	184
$Et_2P(C_6F_5)$	148	$(C_6F_5)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6F_5)_2$	151

[108] (dfppe = $(C_6F_5)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6F_5)_2$). In addition to the difference in polarity, C–F bonds are stronger than analogous C–H bonds (D°_{298} : C_6H_5 –F 525 ± 8.4 kJ mol⁻¹ *versus* C_6H_5 –H 472 ± 2.2 kJ mol⁻¹ [109]). As a consequence fluoroaryl substituents have to date been found to be inert to the reactions that occur with other phosphine aryl substituents, with the notable exception of nucleophilic attack (see Sections 2.4 and 5.1). The P–C(ArF) bond, unlike the P–C(Ar) bond, is susceptible to nucleophilic displacement (see Section 2.1) [83,84].

4. Effects on transition metal complexes

The effect of fluorination of arylphosphines may have dramatic consequences for a variety of properties of their metal complexes, such as coordination number, Lewis acidity, geometry, reactivity and catalytic properties. This section will briefly highlight complex stability, reactivity and IR spectroscopic properties to illustrate the range of effects that can arise from fluorination. Effects on catalytic properties and stoichiometric reactions are discussed in more detail in Sections 6 and 7.

4.1. Complex stability

The lower basicity of fluoroarylphosphines compared with perprotio analogues is expected to lead to weaker M-P bonds. This has been confirmed for rhodium(I) complexes in an investigation of substitution enthalpies, determined by calorimetry of the reaction between $[Rh(CO)_2(\mu-Cl)]_2$ and phosphines of similar cone angles, which show a dependence on electronic properties: $P(C_6H_4CF_3-4)_3(-183.4(0.9) \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}) > P(C_6H_4F (-209.8(1.3) \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}) > \text{PPh}_3 (-216.5(1.3) \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}) >$ $P(C_6H_4Me-4)_3$ (-234.9(0.9) kJ mol⁻¹) [110]. The greater bulk of fluoroarylphosphines is also expected to affect adversely complex stability by increasing steric congestion, and in some cases can prevent complex formation, for example $[(\eta^5 C_5Me_5$)RhCl₂{PPh_{3-x}(ArF)_x}, ArF = C₆F₅, C₆H₃F₂-2,6, have been prepared for x = 0 and 1, but the attempted syntheses of the complexes with x = 2 and 3 were unsuccessful [57,111]. The combination of electronic and steric properties typically renders fluoroarylphosphines, especially those that are highly fluorinated and possess large cone angles, poorer and more labile ligands than their perprotio analogues. This has been demonstrated by a study of displacement reactions of rhodium, palladium and platinum complexes which revealed that ligand lability electron-p

decreased in the order $Me_2S > P(C_6F_5)_3 > PhP(C_6F_5)_2 > P(C_6H_3F_2-2,6)_3 > cycloocta-1,5-diene > Ph_2P(C_6F_5) > PPh_3$ [58]. Lability is significantly lower for chelating fluoroarylphosphines, even those with large cone angles and that are highly fluorinated, such as dfppe [19].

4.2. Reactivity

It is expected that the greater bulk and lower basicity of fluoroarylphosphines compared with their perprotio analogues affects the reactivity of their complexes. Although in the majority of cases this is a small change of rate and selectivity, in some cases, especially those involving the bulkiest and most electron-poor phosphines, the effects are dramatic leading to starkly contrasting reactivity. Reactions may be turned on or off by fluorination, as illustrated by the following examples (see also Sections 5 and 6). Thermally induced reductive elimination of biphenyl from [Pt(Ar)₂(dfppe)] occurs readily, but has not been reported from $[Pt(C_6H_5)_2(dppe)]$ [112]. (The syntheses of some [Pt(Ar)₂(dppe)] complexes are performed at elevated temperature [113].) The reaction between singlet oxygen and Vaska's complex, *trans*-[IrCl(CO)(PPh₃)₂], leads to both quenching to give triplet oxygen and oxidative addition to form a peroxo complex at a much faster rate than with triplet oxygen [114]. In contrast trans-[IrCl(-CO {P(C₆F₅)₃}₂] neither undergoes oxidative addition nor quenches singlet oxygen. It is likely that this lack of reactivity arises from the electron-poor phosphine increasing the electrophilic nature of the iridium and stabilizing the lower oxidation state, thereby disfavouring oxidative addition, and the steric congestion around iridium. Treatment of coordinatively unsaturated rhodium(III) complex the $[Rh(C_6H_5)Cl_2(PPh_3)_2]$ with dppe led to the displacement of one phosphine ligand and formation of the six-coordinate rhodium(III) complex $[Rh(C_6H_5)Cl_2(PPh_3)(dppe)]$ [115], whereas treatment with dfppe led to reductive elimination of chlorobenzene and formation of the four-coordinate rhodium(I) complex [RhCl(PPh₃)(dfppe)] [20]. The difference in reactivity is presumed to arise from the greater bulk of dfppe favouring the lower coordination number and the

Table 5 $\nu(C \equiv O)$ of *trans*-[RhCl(CO)(phosphine)₂]

electron-poor character which favours the lower oxidation state.

4.3. IR spectroscopic properties

IR spectral data of a complex can give valuable information regarding the electronic character of the metal centre. Particularly useful are those functional groups that give strong bands outside regions of C-H stretching and bending vibrations and whose frequencies are susceptible to subtle changes in electronic character. For those groups with multiple-bonding and low-lying π^* orbitals, such as carbonyl and isonitrile, an electron-rich metal will give more π back-donation than an electron-poor metal, and the multiple bond will be weakened more and the frequency of its stretching vibration will be reduced more. Therefore, for analogous complexes the stretching frequencies can be related to the Lewis acidity of the metal centre, with frequency increasing with Lewis acidity. For example, in a study of [PtCl(C=NC₆H₃Me₂-2,6)(R₂PCH₂CH₂PR₂)]BF₄ the values of ν (C=N) confirmed Lewis acidity increased with the degree of fluorination: R = Ph2207 cm⁻¹, C₆H₃F₂-2,4 2211 cm⁻¹, C₆H₂F₃-2,4,5 2213 cm⁻¹, C₆HF₄-2,3,4,5 2215 cm⁻¹, C₆F₅ 2221 cm⁻¹ [29]. A more useful indicator of metal electronic character is $\nu(C \equiv 0)$, since this shows a greater range of frequency and the carbonyl ligand is a common spectator ligand in organometallic chemistry. The values of $\nu(C \equiv O)$ for a range of *trans*-[RhCl(CO)(pho $sphine_{2}$ (Table 5) reveal the effect of fluorination on the electronic character of the metal. However, steric factors also affect $\nu(C \equiv 0)$ [102], and valid comparisons can be made only between complexes of ligands of similar cone angle. Similar variations of $\nu(C=0)$ are observed for trans-[IrCl(CO)(phosphine)₂] and many other transition metal complexes.

The effect of fluorination of diphosphines is evident from $\nu(C\equivO)$ of complexes such as [Mo(CO)₄(diphosphine)]. [Mo(CO)₄(dppe)] exhibits the two A_1 , B_1 and B_2 bands at 2020, 1919, 1907 and 1881 cm⁻¹ [121], [Mo(CO)₄{(C₆H₃F₂-2,6)₂PCH₂CH₂CH₂P(C₆H₃F₂-2,6)₂] at 2030, 1945, 1924 and 1885 cm⁻¹ [57], and [Mo(CO)₄(dfppe)] at 2041, 1965, 1935 and 1912 cm⁻¹ [122].

	ν (C=O) (cm ⁻¹)		ν (C=O) (cm ⁻¹)
Cone angle $\approx 145^{\circ}$		Cone angle $\approx 158^{\circ}$	
PPh ₃ [116]	1961	$[(\eta^{6}-C_{6}H_{6})Cr(\eta^{6}-C_{6}F_{5})PPh_{2}]$ [8]	1955
$PPh_2(C_6H_4Bu^t-4)$ [117]	1964	$PPh_2(C_6H_3F_2-2,6)$ [57]	1967
$PPh(C_6H_4Bu^t-4)_2$ [117]	1964	$PPh_2(C_6F_5)$ [20]	1982
PPh ₂ (C ₅ H ₄ N-2) [118]	1969	$PPh_2(C_6F_4C \equiv N-4)$ [120]	1987
P(C ₆ H ₄ SO ₃ Na-3) ₃ [119]	1973	$PPh_2(C_5F_4N-4)$ [42]	1993
$P(C_6H_4F-4)_3$ [110]	1982	$P\{C_{6}H_{3}(CF_{3})_{2}-3,5\}_{3}$ [47]	2000
P(C ₆ H ₄ Cl-4) ₃ [110]	1984	Cone angle $\approx 171^{\circ}$	
$P(C_6H_4CF_3-4)_3$ [110]	1990	$PPh(C_6H_3F_2-2,6)_2$ [57]	1961
		$PPh(C_6F_5)_2$ [20]	2002
		Cone angle $\approx 184^{\circ}$	
		$P(C_6H_3F_2-2,6)_3$ [57]	1965
		$P(C_6F_5)_3$ [20]	2008

4.4. $M \cdots F - C$ interactions

Although intramolecular $M \cdots F-C$ interactions have been observed in complexes of ligands other than phosphines, for example $[IrH_2(PPh_3)_2(8-fluoroquinoline)]SbF_6$ [123], and many $M \cdot \cdot \cdot X$ interactions with the other halogens have been reported, $M \cdots F-C$ interactions strong enough to be observed in solution are unknown for fluoroarylphosphine complexes. For example, multinuclear NMR spectroscopic studies revealed that $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Ru(CO){PPh_2(C_6H_4X-2)}]^+$ (X = Cl, Br), formed by silver(I)-mediated chloride abstraction from $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)RuCl(CO){PPh_2(C_6H_4X-2)}]$, possessed an intramolecular $Ru \cdots X$ interaction, whereas no $Ru \cdots F$ interaction was observed on chloride abstraction from $[(\eta^5 C_5H_5$ RuCl(CO) {PPh₂(C₆H₄F-2)}] [124]. These observations were supported by calculations that revealed that there is no stabilization gained by a Ru $\cdot \cdot \cdot$ F interaction in the cation $[(\eta^{2} C_5H_5$ Ru(CO) {PPh₂(C₆H₄F-2)}]⁺, although considerable stabilization arose for the chloride and bromide analogues [125]. Similarly $Ir \cdots Cl$ and $Ir \cdots Br$ interactions, but not an $Ir \cdots F$ interaction, are found in $[(COD)Ir{PPh_2(C_6H_4X-2)}]^+$ (COD = η^2 , η'^2 -cycloocta-1,5-diene) [126]. Short M···F-C distances can be present in solid state structures, for example that of *trans*-[IrBr(CO){ $P(C_6F_5)_3$ }] includes two Ir···F distances of 3.13 and 3.16 Å, which are slightly shorter than the sum of the van der Waals' radii, 3.25 Å [127], however it is more likely that these arise from geometric constraints and steric congestion than from attraction between the metal and the fluorine atom.

5. Reactions of coordinated fluoroarylphosphines

5.1. Reactions involving C-F bond cleavage

Fluoroarylphosphines are susceptible to nucleophilic attack [88], with substitution of the *para*-fluorine atoms observed in most cases. The susceptibility of polyfluoroaryl substituents to nucleophilic attack can be enhanced by coordination to metals, especially in cases where the resulting complex is cationic [128].

5.1.1. Intermolecular C-F bond cleavage

Reports of intermolecular nucleophilic attack at coordinated polyfluoroarylphosphines are rare. The nucleophilic substitution of fluoride by methoxide and thiomethoxide at the *para* positions of coordinated tris(pentafluorophenyl)phosphine of a cationic rhenium complex was accomplished at low temperatures with high and moderate yields, respectively, (Scheme 10) [129].

5.1.2. Intramolecular C-F bond cleavage

Reports of intramolecular nucleophilic attack at coordinated polyfluoroarylphosphines are more common than the intermolecular reactions.

Treatment of *trans*-[PtMe(THF){PPh₂(C₆F₅)}₂]X (**5**) with aqueous KOH rapidly afforded the metallacyclic complex [PtMe(κ P, κ O-Ph₂PC₆F₄O-2){PPh₂(C₆F₅)}], the identity of which was confirmed by a structure determination by singlecrystal X-ray diffraction, in 68% yield [130,131]. A similar reaction was observed with NaNH₂ [131]. All four *ortho* fluorine atoms were substituted by treatment of the salt **5** (X = ClO₄⁻ or CF₃SO₃⁻) with five equivalents of NaOMe. The reaction was rapid and afforded *trans*-[Pt(OMe)Me(PPh₂{C₆-F₃(OMe)₂-2,6})₂] in quantitative yield. Although the intramolecular nature of the reaction was not confirmed *ortho* substitution strongly suggests an intramolecular nucleophilic reaction for which the mechanism depicted in Scheme 11 has been proposed [131].

Nucleophilic substitution of *ortho* fluorine atoms of PPh(C₆F₅)₂ and PPh₂(C₆F₅) coordinated to platinum by thiolate has also been reported [132]. Reaction of *trans*-[PtCl₂ {PPh_x(C₆F₅)_{3-x}}₂] (x = 1, 2) with Pb(SC₆F₄H-4)₂ in acetone at ambient temperature yielded a mixture of *cis* and *trans* isomers of [Pt(SC₆F₄H-4)₂{PPh_x(C₆F₅)_{3-x}}₂], the bimetallic complexes [Pt(SC₆F₄H-4)₂{PPh_x(C₆F₅)_{3-x}}₂], the bimetallic complexes [Pt(SC₆F₄H-4)₂{ κ P, κ S-Ph_xP(C₆F₅)_{2-x}(C₆F₄-2-SC₆F₄H-4)}], which were structurally characterized by single-crystal X-ray diffraction. The mechanism of the reaction was not determined, but, as with the previous reactions, the position of the substitution strongly suggests intramolecular nucleophilic attack by a coordinated thiolate.

The intramolecular nucleophilic substitution of *ortho* fluorine atoms of polyfluoroarylphosphines in cationic complexes has been used to link the phosphines to η^5 -cyclopentadienyl, η^6 -arene, imidazolidin-2-ylidene and primary phosphine ligands. This method generates complexes of chelating multidentate ligands which are difficult to prepare by other routes, and because the reactions are intramolecular, they are typically rapid, high yielding and highly regioselective.

The rhodium and iridium complexes of a chelating trifunctional η^5 , κP , κP -cyclopentadienyl-diphosphine ligand, $[\{\eta^5, \kappa P, \kappa P-C_5Me_3[CH_2C_6F_4-2-P(C_6F_5)CH_2]_2-1,3\}MCl]^+$, M



Scheme 10.





= Rh and Ir, were synthesized in almost quantitative yield by heating a solution of $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)MCl(\mu-Cl)]_2$ and dfppe [107]. It was found that the coupling occurred in a stepwise fashion via the intermediates $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)RhCl(dfppe)]^+$ and the singly-linked complex [(η^5 -C₅Me₄CH₂C₆F₄P(C₆F₅)CH₂CH₂P- $(C_6F_5)_2$ RhCl]⁺. Subsequently it was found that the same products were obtained rapidly at ambient temperature by addition of a strong, non-nucleophilic base, such as 1,8bis(dimethylamino)naphthalene (Proton Sponge), to $[(\eta^5 -$ C₅Me₅)MCl(dfppe)]BF₄ [6]. On the basis of this and similar observations [133], it was proposed that the reaction occurs by loss of a proton from the η^5 -pentamethylcyclopentadienyl forming an η^4 -fulvene ligand, the nucleophilic methylene carbon of which attacks an ortho carbon atom of the dfppe ligand (Scheme 12). Less than the stoichiometric amount of base is required, presumably because the fluoride by-product is sufficiently basic to facilitate the reaction.

This reaction provides a convenient access to rhodium and iridium complexes of trifunctional η^5 , κP , κL -cyclopentadienyl-phosphine ligands, and a range of complexes has been prepared in high yield using this method [6,21,42,84,111,134]. The same method has been used to link the η⁵-cyclopentadienyl ligand and monodentate phosphines of [(η⁵-C₅Me₅)MCl{R₂P(C₆F₅)}(CNR')]⁺, affording [(η⁵,κP-C₅Me₄CH₂C₆F₄PR₂)MCl(CNR')]⁺, but the yields were lower, reaction times were longer and more by-products were formed [6,84]. The complexes **6**, M = Rh and Ir, in which one phosphine moiety of the trifunctional ligand is not coordinated to the metal, were also formed by this method. (Scheme 13) [17,18]. NMR spectroscopic data suggest that the reaction proceeds via the intermediates [(η⁵-C₅Me₅)MCl{κP,κP-(C₆F₅)₂PCH₂P(C₆F₅)₂]⁺ and that geometric changes that occur on coupling force dissociation of the P(C₆F₅)₂ moiety.

 $η^6$ -Arene complexes of ruthenium have also been found to undergo similar dehydrofluorinative couplings. Treatment of [($η^6$ -C₆H₃Me₃-1,3,5)RuCl{(C₆F₅)₂PCH₂CH₂P(C₆F₅)₂}]BF₄ with proton sponge gave [{ $η^6$,κP,κP-C₆H₃Me-5-[CH₂_C₆F₄P-(C₆F₅)CH₂]₂-1,3}RuCl]BF₄ in 87% yield via [{ $η^6$,κP,κP-C₆H₃Me₂-3,5-CH₂C₆F₄P(C₆F₅)CH₂CH₂P(C₆F₅)₂}RuCl]BF₄ [135]. In contrast to the reactions of $η^5$ -pentamethylcyclopentadienyl rhodium and iridium complexes, the reaction required the stoichiometric quantity of base, and the product could not be

6



formed by heating $[(\eta^6\text{-}C_6H_3Me_3\text{-}1,3,5)RuCl(\mu\text{-}Cl)]_2$ and dfppe.

The linking of imidazolidin-2-ylidene and diphosphine ligands was achieved by treating salt **7** with two equivalents of KOBu^t (Scheme 14). The product **8**, which contains a meridionally coordinated cyclic diphosphino-imidazolidin-2-ylidene ligand, was obtained in 91% yield [136].

The coupling of the phosphine ligands of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)-Fe\{\kappa P,\kappa P-(C_6H_4F-2)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_4F-2)_2\}(PH_2Ph)]PF_6$ (9) was achieved by addition of base (Scheme 15) [68]. Photolysis of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Fe(\eta^6-C_6H_4Me_2-1,4)]PF_6$ in the presence of $(C_6H_4F-2)_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_4F-2)_2$ in acetonitrile, followed by treatment with PhPH₂ at elevated temperature gave the salt 9, which on treatment with two equivalents of KOBu^t in THF gave salt **10** in an overall yield of 75% (with respect to $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Fe(\eta^6-C_6H_4Me_2-1,4)]PF_6$). The reaction is postulated to occur by deprotonation of the primary phosphine ligand giving a phosphide, which attacks a fluorinated carbon atom forming a P–C bond. The process is repeated to generate the triphosphacyclononane.

5.2. Reactions involving P–C bond cleavage

In contrast to the cleavage of P–C bonds of non-fluorinated phosphines [137], there are only three reports of the transition metal mediated cleavage of P–C(ArF) bonds. Treatment of $Pd_2(dba)_3$ (dba = dibenzylideneacetone, (PhCH=CH)₂CO) with an equimolar quantity of dfppe in THF produced a mixture of [Pd(dba)₂], [Pd(dfppe)(THF)] and [Pd(dba)(dfppe)],

which on prolonged heating yielded the phosphine-phosphide complex $[Pd(C_6F_5){\mu-(C_6F_5)PCH_2CH_2P(C_6F_5)_2]_2 [138]$. The complex *trans*-Ir(C₆F₅)(CO){PPh₂(C₆F₅)}₂, which was structurally characterized by single-crystal X-ray diffraction, was formed from *mer*-[IrF₃(CO){PPh₂(C₆F₅)}₂] on standing in CD₂Cl₂ for several weeks [139]. The reaction between $[Os_3H(CO)_{11}]^-$ with $(C_6F_5)_2$ PH resulted in the formation of $[Os_3(\mu-H){\mu-PH(C_6F_5)}(CO)_{10}]$ [140].

5.3. Orthometallation

Although orthometallation involving cleavage of a C–F bond of a polyfluoroaryl-substituent has been reported for ligands such as imine [141] and azine [142], it is yet to be observed for phosphines. However, orthometallation of $R_2P(C_6F_4Br-2)$ with oxidative addition of the C–Br bond across rhodium or iridium or two metal atoms has been reported. A number of complexes of $\kappa P, \kappa C-R_2P(C_6F_4-2)$ have been prepared by this reaction [143], for example that in Scheme 16 [144].

The reactions are similar to those that occur with non-fluorinated analogue, $Ph_2P(C_6H_4Cl-2)$ [145].

6. Fluoroarylphosphines as ligands for catalysis

The electronic and steric properties of fluoroarylphosphines (see Section 3) impact on the chemical properties of metal complexes (see Section 4) and consequently it is expected that these will effect their catalytic properties. For









example, fluoroarylphosphines stabilize lower oxidation states which may be beneficial for reductive elimination reactions, and enhance metal Lewis acidity which is advantageous for catalytic activity in reactions such as Baeyer-Villiger oxidation. The greater bulk of fluoroarylphosphines may enhance catalytic activity by favouring lower coordination numbers and is also expected to be important to selectivity. The increased lability of the highly fluorinated phosphines may also have some important consequences, although these are likely to be detrimental since catalyst decomposition is a likely outcome. Fluoroarvlphosphines are inert to most reactions, nucleophilic attack being a notable exception, and can be used in conditions where electron-withdrawing aryl substituents such as nitrile and nitro undergo reactions. As well as the potential to provide highly active and selective catalysts, fluoroaryl phosphines can be used as a tool for observing how changes in electronic or steric bulk affect the activity and selectivity of a catalytic system. This is especially important since the mechanisms of catalysis of many reactions are not fully understood. It is only over the past decade that there has been much interest in the effects of fluorination on the catalytic properties of metal phosphine complexes. Although in most of the studies a systematic variation of the degree and pattern of fluorination has not been performed, it is evident that for some reactions fluorination has a positive effect on activity or selectivity and can provide the best catalyst.

6.1. Hydroformylation

Rhodium-catalysed hydroformylation is industrially important for the production of desirable linear aldehydes from terminal alkenes. A simplified depiction of the commonly accepted mechanism is shown in Scheme 17. It has been found that the rate is inversely related to phosphine basicity, which is ascribed to lower phosphine basicity giving weaker Rh–CO bonds due to less Rh–CO back-donation, which facilitates CO dissociation [146]. For this reason, fluoroarylphosphines are expected to provide catalysts with good activity. The electronic nature of the phosphines has also been found to exert an influence on selectivity. When both phosphine ligands occupied equatorial positions less basic phosphines favoured formation of the linear product, but when one was axial and other equatorial the selectivity for linear products decreased [146]. The position of the phosphine ligands can be controlled by the use of a chelating diphosphine with an appropriate bite angle. It is also expected that steric properties of fluoroarylphosphines would affect selectivity.

An early study on the hydroformylation of 1-hexene at 70 °C and 1.38 MPa catalysed by $[RhH(CO)_2 \{P(C_6H_4X - CO)_2\}$ $\{4\}_{2}$ reported that rate and selectivity decreased in the order X: $CF_3 > Cl > F > H > OMe > NMe_2$ [147]. [RhH- $(CO)_{2} \{P(C_{6}H_{4}F-4)_{3}\}_{2}\}$ gave a selectivity for the linear product (78%) identical to that of [RhH(CO)₂(PPh₃)₂]. A subsequent study investigated the effect of electron-withdrawing phosphine substituents on the hydroformylation of acrolein acetal at 100 °C and 1 MPa using catalysts formed in *situ* from $[Rh(CO)_2(acac)]$ (acac = $[MeCOCHCOMe]^-$) and a large excess of monophosphine [60]. The selectivity displayed an almost linear relationship to $\Sigma \sigma$, the sum of the Hammett constants for the phosphine, ranging from 57% with $P(C_6H_4Me-3)_3$ to 85% with $P(C_6H_3F_2-3,5)_3$. However, activity did not show a simple relationship to electronic properties. Under the conditions of the experiment, after 4 h $P(C_6H_3F_2-3,5)_3$, $P(C_6H_3F_2-3,4)_3$ and PPh_3 gave conversions of only 33%, 23% and 24% respectively, whereas P(C₆H₄F-3)₃ gave a conversion of 73%. Ortho-substituted phenylphosphines gave very low conversions, which was ascribed to



Scheme 17.

steric congestion destabilizing the catalysts, although triaryl phosphines bearing fluorine in the ortho positions were not tested. In another study, the activity and selectivity of catalysts containing $P(C_6F_5)_3$, $P(C_6H_2F_3-3,4,5)_3,$ $P\{C_6H_3(CF_3)_2-3,5\}_3$, $P(C_6H_4CF_3-2)_3$, PPh_3 and $P(OPh)_3$ were compared for the hydroformylation of 1-hexene at 60 °C and 20 bar [47]. The activities of the catalysts with the bulkiest phosphines, $P(C_6F_5)_3$ and $P(C_6H_4CF_3-2)_3$, were very low, possibly due to incomplete coordination of these poor ligands, whereas the activities, and selectivities, of the catalysts containing $P(C_6H_2F_3-3,4,5)_3$ and $P\{C_6H_3(CF_3)_2 3,5_3$ were similar to those of the catalyst containing PPh₃ (linear: branched ratios of 2.5:1, 3:1 and 2.9:1, respectively). The phosphite gave the most active catalyst, which gave a similar selectivity (linear: branched 2.6:1). The catalyst containing $P(C_6H_2F_3-3,4,5)_3$ was also assessed for the hydroformylation of 4-methoxystyrene, but was found to be less active than catalysts containing $P\{C_6H_3(CF_3)_2, 3, 5\}_3$ and PPh₃.

A study of the effect of chelating ligands 11 (X = H, F, Cl, CF_3 , Me, OMe, NMe₂) on the hydroformylation of styrene at 120 °C and 10 bar showed a general increase in both rate and selectivity for the linear aldehyde with decreasing phosphine basicity [80]. However, the activity of the ligand X = F was slightly lower than that with X = H and the selectivities were the same (56%). The effect of the substituents on the selectivity of the hydroformylation of 1-octene at 80 °C and 20 bar was minimal; all ligands gave ca. 92% linear product, but the rate increased with decreasing phosphine basicity, with the exception of the ligands X = F and Cl, which gave similar rates to X = Me, which was presumed to be due to incomplete catalyst formation or deactivation. The lack of a difference in selectivity between the ligands was a result of β -hydrogen elimination from the branched alkyl intermediate, the rate of which also increases with increasing electrophilicity of the rhodium. The product of β -hydrogen elimination is 2-octene, which is much less reactive to hydroformylation. The product of β -hydrogen elimination from the styrene analogue regenerates the substrate, and so β -hydrogen elimination has no effect on the selectivity of the hydroformylation of styrene.



Rhodium complexes of the diphosphines **12** (Ar = $C_6H_3(CF_3)_2$ -3,5, $C_6H_3F_2$ -3,5, $C_6H_2F_3$ -3,4,5, $C_6H_3Me_2$ -3,5) have been shown to catalyse the hydroformylation of internal alkenes, in particular 2-octene, to linear aldehydes with good selectivities at 120 °C and 10 bar [148]. The trends in activity follow that of the electron-withdrawing nature of the phosphine substituents, Ar = $C_6H_3(CF_3)_2$ -3,5 > $C_6H_2F_3$ -3,4,5 > $C_6H_3F_2$ -3,5 > $C_6H_3Me_2$ -3,5, but the selectivities for

Ar = $C_6H_3F_2$ -3,5 (93% linear) and $C_6H_2F_3$ -3,4,5 (94% linear) were slightly higher than that for Ar = $C_6H_3(CF_3)_2$ -3,5 (91% linear), all of which were higher than for Ar = $C_6H_3Me_2$ -3,5 (78% linear).

A study comparing [Rh(dfppe)(nbd)]BF₄ and [Rh(dppe)-(nbd)]BF₄ (nbd = norbornadiene) as pre-catalysts for the hydroformylation of vinylarenes, H₂C=CHC₆H₄X-4 (X = H, Me, Cl, NO₂), in benzene at 200 psi and 55 °C using 5 mol% of catalyst has been reported [149]. 100% conversion was obtained for all substrates with both catalysts after 24 h. The catalyst containing dfppe consistently gave better selectivity (>90%) for the branched aldehyde, and with H₂C=CHC₆H₄NO₂-4 gave exclusively branched product. In contrast, the catalyst containing dppe gave branched:linear ratios of 3.2:1 to 4:1 for X = H, Me and Cl and 24:1 for X = NO₂. It was argued that since the bulk of dfppe would favour a linear product, a powerful electronic effect is exerted.

The catalytic activities of the trinuclear ruthenium(0) complexes $[(\mu_2-dfppe)Ru_3(CO)_{10}]$ and $[(\mu_2-dfppe){Ru-(CO)_3}_2Ru(dfppe)(CO)_2]$ towards hydroformylation of ethene and propene have been assessed [150]. $[(\mu_2-dfppe)Ru_3(CO)_{10}]$ was found to be more active for ethene hydroformylation than the non-fluorinated analogues $[(\mu_2-dppe)Ru_3(CO)_{10}]$ and $[{\mu_2-(C_6H_{11})_2PCH_2P(C_6H_{11})_2}Ru_3(CO)_{10}]$. The activity of $[(\mu_2-dfppe)Ru_2(CO)_6Ru(dfppe)(CO)_2]$ was found to be much lower and similar to that of $Ru_3(CO)_{12}$. These five complexes showed similar activity for propene hydroformylation, but the complexes of the fluorinated ligands displayed almost no selectivity for linear over branched propionaldehyde.

6.2. Hydroacylation

Dfppe has been used to confirm the hypothesis that decreasing the basicity of the chelate decreases the rate of the hydroacylation of pent-4-enal catalysed by [(diphosphine)Rh(OCMe_2)_2]⁺ in nitromethane (Scheme 18) [151]. Although [(dfppe)Rh]⁺, which was formed by addition of hydrogen to [(dfppe)Rh(nbd)]ClO₄, was found to be an active catalyst for the hydroacylation, it was considerably less active than [{(C_6H_{11})_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_{11})_2]Rh]⁺ and [(μ -dppe)_2Rh_2]^{2+}. These species also catalysed the decarbonylation of pentenal under the same conditions. The ratio of rates of hydroacylation and decarbonylation were found to be the same for [(dfppe)Rh]⁺ and [(μ -dppe)_2Rh_2]^{2+}, indicating the lower activity of the former for decarbonylation.

6.3. Methanol carbonylation

The synthesis of acetic acid by carbonylation of methanol (Scheme 19) is of immense industrial importance and carried



Scheme 18



out on a scale of several million tonnes each year [152]. A number of rhodium complexes formed in situ from [Rh(µ-Cl)(CO)₂]₂ and analogues of dppe, including the fluorophenyl-substituted phosphines $Ph_2PCH_2CH_2P(ArF)_2$ (ArF = C_6H_4F -3, $C_6H_3F_2$ -3,5 and $C_6H_3F_2$ -3,4,5) and $(C_6H_4F$ - 3_2 PCH₂CH₂P(C₆H₄F-3)₂, have been assessed as catalysts for methanol carbonylation [49]. All showed good activity, although not approaching that of [RhI₂(CO)₂]⁻, and the selectivity for acetic acid was >99%, with lower formation of propionic acid than with $[RhI_2(CO)_2]^-$. Catalysts formed by the unsymmetrical diphosphines were more active than those formed by the symmetrical diphosphines. The activity increased with increasing electron-withdrawing nature (fluorination) of the aryl substituents, reaching a maximum with $Ph_2PCH_2CH_2P(C_6H_3F_2-3,5)_2$, but then decreased as the electron-withdrawing nature increased. It was suggested that the maximum could derive from a balance between the σ donor and π -acceptor abilities of the phosphines being necessary for optimum rate. Addition of the iodide-abstracting $[RuI_2(CO)_4]$, a promoter in the industrial *Cativa* process, to the catalyst formed by Ph2PCH2CH2P(C6H4F-3)2 more than doubled the rate, but led to the production of more propionic acid.

6.4. Methoxycarbonylation

Cationic palladium(II) complexes, especially those of 1,1'bis(phosphino)ferrocene, [Fe(η^5 -C₅H₄PR₂)₂], have been found to be efficient catalysts for the methoxycarbonylation of alkenes (Scheme 20), with the product distribution highly dependent on the nature of the phosphine substituent R [153]. A comparative study showed that [$\kappa P, \kappa P$ -Fe(η^5 -C₅H₄PR₂)₂Pd(NCMe)(OTf)]OTf, R = Ph, C₆H₄OMe-2 and C₆H₄Me-2, were active catalysts, giving a mixture of methoxycarbonylated products (R = Ph), polyketone (R = C₆H₄OMe-2) and methyl propanoate [154]. In contrast [$\kappa P, \kappa P$ -Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆F₅)₂}₂Pd(NCMe)-(OTf)]OTf was almost inactive. This was ascribed to the destabilization of the palladium(II) cation due to the electron-

withdrawing effect of the pentafluorophenyl groups, and reduction to inactive species under the reaction conditions $(E = -0.31 \text{ V } cf. \text{ R} = C_6 \text{H}_4 \text{OMe-}2 - 0.78 \text{ V}).$

The catalysis of the methoxycarbonylation of benzyl bromide (Scheme 21) by bis{phosphorus(III)} palladium complexes has been studied [155]. Activity, as assessed by yield after 2 h, showed an inverse relationship to cone angle with the highest and lowest activities for the catalysts derived from trimethylphosphite and tricyclohexylphosphine, respectively. The catalyst derived from $P(C_6F_5)_3$ displayed the highest activity of any phosphine studied, equal to that derived from $P(OCH_2CF_3)_3$. The activities of catalysts formed by $Ph_2P(C_6F_5)$ and $PhP(C_6F_5)_2$ showed activities close to that of the catalyst formed by PPh_3 . For the fluoroarylphosphines, electronic factors dominated over the steric factors; the active catalyst is a palladium(0) complex, the formation of which is favoured by electron-poor phosphines.

6.5. Alkene polymerization

The catalytic activity of group 10 metal complexes [(R₂PCH₂CH₂PR₂)MCl₂] activated by methylaluminoxane towards the polymerization of 2-norbornene has been assessed [45]. The polymerization of alkenes catalysed by late transition metal complexes is often compromised by competition with Bhydride elimination [156], but this reaction is thermodynamically disfavoured for 2-norbornene. The palladium complexes $[(R_2PCH_2CH_2PR_2)PdCl_2], R = C_6H_3F_2-2,4 \text{ and } C_6F_5, dis$ played much higher activity then the non-fluorinated complexes $[(dppe)PdCl_2]$ and $[(dppp)MCl_2]$ (M = Ni, Pd), but $(CF_3)_2$ -3,5)₂ $PdCl_2$. It was concluded that high activity was provided by electron-withdrawing phosphine substituents, but there was no clear relationship between the degree of fluorination and activity. It was presumed that steric factors are also important. B-Hydride elimination can be suppressed by the use of bulky chelating ligands [157], and it is suggested that suitably fluorinated bulky diphosphines may provide active



Scheme 20.



catalysts for the polymerization of alkenes for which β -hydride elimination is not inherently disfavoured.

6.6. Alkene/CO copolymerization

The catalytic activity of palladium complexes of fluorinated diphosphine ligands, $[(Ph_2PCH_2CH_2CH_2PR_2)Pd(NCMe)_2]$ $[BF_4]_2$, towards the copolymerization of propene and carbon monoxide [158] has been assessed by comparison with that of $[(dppp)Pd(NCMe)_2][BF_4]_2$ [43]. The activities of the complexes [{Ph₂PCH₂CH₂CH₂PR₂}Pd(NCMe)₂][BF₄]₂ followed the order $R = C_6H_4CF_3-2 < R = C_6H_2F_3-2, 4, 6 < R = Ph$ $C_6H_3Me_2-3, 5 < R = C_6H_3F_2-3, 5 < R = C_6H_3(CF_3)_2-$ < R = 3,5. No conclusions were drawn regarding the effect of fluorination on activity, although the adverse effect of ortho substitution was ascribed to increased steric demand. The molecular weight of the product polyketone showed a similar variation with R as activity. The regio-regularity of the polyketone increased with the bulk of the substituents in the 3 and 5 positions. Those for $R = C_6H_4CF_3$ -2 and $C_6H_2F_3$ -2,4,6 were similar to that of $R = C_6H_3Me_2-3.5$.

methylcyclohexanone, which showed that activity followed the order: $R = Ph < C_6H_3F_2-2, 4 < C_6H_2F_3-2, 4, 5 < C_6HF_4-2, 3, 4, 5 < C_6F_5$. However, decomposition of the catalysts, yielding phosphine oxides, occurred, which severely limited their lifetimes and productivities.

6.8. Hydrogenation

Hydrogenation of *N*-iminopyridinium ylides catalysed by iridium complexes of phosphinooxazolines (Scheme 22) has been accomplished recently [160]. Of a range of catalysts, that with the ligand $R = C_6H_4F-4$ gave the best results for the substrate PhCON(NC₅H₃Me-2), giving good selectivity for full hydrogenation of the pyridine ring and 90% ee. Although the ligands with R = Ph, $C_6H_4CF_3-4$ and C_6H_4OMe-4 showed similar activity, the selectivities were lower. The activity of the catalyst with $R = C_6F_5$ was much lower, but was higher than that with $R = C_6H_4Me-2$. The catalyst with $R = C_6H_4F-4$ gave good yields and moderate to good enantioselectivities (50–97% ee) for the hydrogenation of a range of *N*-benzoyliminopyridinium ylides.



6.7. Baeyer-Villiger oxidation

Homogeneous Baeyer-Villager oxidation catalysts act as Lewis acids which are postulated to undergo nucleophilic attack by the peroxidic oxidant [159]. The presence of electronwithdrawing phosphine substituents in the cationic platinum complexes $[Pt(\mu-OH)(R_2PCH_2CH_2PR_2)]_2^{2+}$ was expected to increase Lewis acidity and therefore catalytic activity [29]. This was confirmed by a study of the Baeyer-Villager oxidation of 2Chiral monodentate binaphthophosphepines **13** have been assessed as ligands for the rhodium-catalysed hydrogenation of vinyl amides and esters [161] and the ruthenium catalysed hydrogenation of β -ketoesters [9]. Although catalysts generated *in situ* from [Rh(COD)₂]BF₄ and two equivalents of the binaphthophosphepines **13** R = C₆H₄F-2 and R = C₆H₄F-4 were active for the hydrogenation of H₂C=C(NHAc)COOMe, PhCH=C(NHAc)COOMe and H₂C=C(COOMe)CH₂COOMe under mild conditions, 25 °C and 1 atm H₂, the enantioselec-

tivites were moderate in comparison to other aryl substituents such as $R = C_6H_3Bu_2^{t}$ -3,5 (for the amides) and $R = C_6H_4OMe$ -3 (for the diester) [161]. Of the range of catalysts tested, that generated *in situ* from [Ru(COD)(η^3 -MeCHCHCH₂)₂] and two equivalents of the binaphthophosphepine $R = C_6H_4F$ -4 gave the best enantioselectivity (95% ee *R*) and high activity for the hydrogenation of methyl acetoacetate at 120 °C in methanol at 60 bar [9]. It was found that substituents in only the *para* position, whether electron-releasing or electron-withdrawing, gave good enantioselectivities. The fluoroaryl substituents C_6F_5 , C_6H_4F -2 and $C_6H_2F_3$ -3,4,5 gave lower activity and selectivity. However, activity and enantioselectivity were highly substrate dependent; with ClCH₂COCH₂COOMe, **13** $R = C_6H_4F$ -4 gave the *S* enantiomer in only 6% ee.

The effect of fluorination of the *para* positions of phenyl substituents of ligand **14** has been assessed in the hydrogenation of dimethyl itaconate catalysed by $[Ru(O_2CCF_3)_2(14)]$ [92]. After 1 h at 22 °C under 1 bar of H₂, 70% conversion of 2 mmol of dimethyl itaconate was obtained using 0.02 mmol of catalyst (R = C₆H₄F-4) in 5 cm³ of methanol. In comparison R = Ph, C₆H₃OMe-2,4 and xylyl gave 100% conversions. Good enantioselectivity was observed for these catalysts: 95% ee R = C₆H₄F-4 and xylyl, 92% R = Ph, C₆H₃OMe-2,4. At 50 °C the catalysts gave 100% conversion after 30 min with similarly high enantioselectivities.

The catalysis of the hydrogenation of a range of α - and β functionalized ketones by ruthenium BINAP complexes 15, including $R = C_6H_4F-4$, has been investigated [94]. The complex $R = C_6H_4F-4$, R' = Me, R'' = CHMe, X = I showed good enantioselectivity and activity for the hydrogenation of methyl acetoacetate (97% ee), similar to the complex $R = C_6 H_4 Me-4$, R' = Me, R'' = CHMe. However, the activity and selectivity were substrate dependent, and although the complex $R = C_6H_4F-4$, R' = Me, R'' = CHMe, X = I gave good enantioselectivity for the hydrogenation of methyl-2-(benzamidomethyl)-3-oxobutanoate, PhCONHCH₂CH(COMe)-COOMe (94% ee), it gave poor diastereoselectivity (39% de) and was less active than complexes such as $R = C_6H_4Me-3$, R' = Me, R'' = CHMe, X = I. Studies of other complexes revealed that activity and selectivity were also dependent on the halide, anion, and η^6 -arene. The complex R = C₆H₄F-4, R' = R'' = H, X = Cl showed reasonable enantioselectivity for the hydrogenation of PhCOCOOMe to PhCHOHCOOMe (80% ee), but was inferior to the complex $R = C_6H_4Me-4$, R' = R'' = H, X = Cl.

6.9. Hydrogen transfer

Complexes of fluoroarylphosphine ligands have recently been assessed for the catalysis of hydrogen transfer (Scheme 23) by piano stool complexes [18].



 $[(\eta^6 - MeC_6H_4CHMe_2 - 4)RuCl(dfppm)]BF_4(dfppm = (C_6F_5)_2)$ $PCH_2P(C_6F_5)_2), [(\eta^5, \kappa P, \kappa P-C_5Me_4CH_2-2-C_5F_3N-4-PPhCH_2 [(\eta^5, \kappa P, \kappa P - C_5 Me_4 CH_2 - 2 - C_6 F_4 -$ CH₂PPh₂)RhCl1BF₄ and $P(C_6F_5)CH_2P(C_6F_5)_2$ RhCl₂] gave conversions of acetophenone (0.2 M) of 85%, 94% and 81% respectively after 2 h, which are comparable to those with $[(\eta^6-C_6H_3Me_3-1,3,5)RuCl(\mu-Cl)]_2/$ DPEN and $[(n^5-C_5Me_5)RhCl(\mu-Cl)]_2/DPEN$ (DPEN = 1,2diphenylethylenediamine) (90%), which are commonly used systems for catalysing hydrogen transfer. However, after 30 min the conversions with $[(\eta^6-MeC_6H_4CHMe_2-4)RuCl(dfppm)]BF_4$ (69%) and $[(\eta^5, \kappa P, \kappa P-C_5Me_4CH_2-2-C_5F_3N-4-PPhCH_2CH_2-$ PPh₂)RhCl]BF₄ (94%) were significantly higher than that with $[(\eta^{6}-C_{6}H_{3}Me_{3}-1,3,5)RuCl(\mu-Cl)]_{2}/DPEN$ (48%). Other ruthenium, rhodium and iridium complexes of fluoroarylphophines were less active: $[(\eta^6-C_6H_3Me_3-1,3,5)RuCl(dfppm)]BF_4 21\%$ conversion, $[(\eta^6-C_6H_3Me_3-1,3,5)Ru(\mu-Cl)_3RuCl(dfppm)]$ 67% conversion, $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)RhCl(dfppm)]BF_4$ 49% conversion, $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)RhCl(dfppe)]BF_4$ 29% conversion, $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)$ IrCl(dfppm)]BF₄ 5% conversion, [(η^5 -C₅Me₅)IrCl(dfppe)]BF₄ 1% conversion. Although high activity is important, enantioselectivity is equally desirable for catalysis of hydrogen transfer reactions. The enantioselectivity of the hydrogen transfer reactions catalysed by the chiral complexes $[(\eta^5, \kappa P, \kappa P C_5Me_4CH_2-2-C_5F_3N-4-PPhCH_2CH_2PPh_2)RhCl]BF_4$ and $[(\eta^5, \eta^5)]$ $\kappa P, \kappa P-C_5Me_4CH_2-2-C_6F_4-P(C_6F_5)CH_2P(C_6F_5)_2$ RhCl₂ has not vet been assessed.

Although $[(\eta^6-MeC_6H_4CHMe_2-4)RuCl(dfppm)]BF_4$ and $[(\eta^5,\kappa P,\kappa P-C_5Me_4CH_2-2-C_5F_3N-4-PPhCH_2CH_2PPh_2)RhCl]$ BF₄ showed high activity for transfer hydrogenation in isopropanol, their activity for the reverse reaction, Oppenauer oxidation, in acetone was disappointing [18]. Under the conditions of the study $[(\eta^6-MeC_6H_4CHMe_2-4)RuCl(dfppm)]BF_4$ and $[(\eta^5,\kappa P,\kappa P-C_5Me_4CH_2-2-C_5F_4N-4-PPhCH_2CH_2PPh_2)RhCl]BF_4$ gave turnover frequencies for oxidation of *rac*-phenylethanol to acetophenone of 24 and 8 h⁻¹, respectively, which were lower than with $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)MCl(\mu-Cl)]_2$ (M = Rh 29 h⁻¹) and (M = Ir 37 h⁻¹).

6.10. Alkyne hydration

A ruthenium(II) complex of $PPh_2(C_6F_5)$ has been found to be an efficient catalyst for the anti-Markovnikov hydration of alkynes [162]. In the presence of three equivalents of $PPh_2(C_6F_5)$, 10 mol% of $[(\eta^6-C_6H_6)RuCl_2\{PPh_2(C_6F_5)\}]$ catalysed the hydration of a range of alkynes in isopropanol at elevated temperature. The best results were achieved with 1hexyne and 1-octyne, which gave upwards of 70% yields of, respectively, hexanal and octanal with high selectivity (<5%ketone) after 12 h at 65 °C. $[(\eta^6-C_6H_6)RuCl_2{PPh_2(C_6F_5)}]$ alone yielded 18% octanal and 22% 2-octanone. NMR spectroscopic studies revealed that $PPh_2(C_6F_5)$ displaced benzene from $[(\eta^6-C_6H_6)RuCl_2{PPh_2(C_6F_5)}]$ leading to the suggestion that $[RuCl_2{PPh_2(C_6F_5)}_3]$ is the resting state of the catalyst. In comparison $[(\eta^6-C_6H_6)RuCl_2{P(C_6H_4SO_3Na 3_{3}$]/8 P(C₆H₄SO₃Na-3)₃ gave a 45% yield of octanal after 40 h at 100 °C in 2-methoxyethanol, with 4.5% 2-octanone and 8.8% octanal. Extensive mechanistic studies of reactions



catalysed by $[(\eta^6-C_6H_6)RuCl_2\{PPh_2(C_6F_5)\}]/3PPh_2(C_6F_5)$ and the complex $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)RuCl(PPhMe_2)]$, supported by DFT calculations, has allowed a mechanism involving protonation of an η^2 -coordinated alkyne, nucleophilic attack by hydroxide on a ruthenium(IV) hydride vinylidene complex and reductive elimination from a ruthenium hydride acyl complex to be proposed (Scheme 24) [163]. It was suggested that the bulk of the ligands favours the vinyl intermediate in which the alkyl group is β , which leads to the aldehyde, rather than α , which leads to the ketone.

6.11. Methanol dehydrogenation

A study of the dehydrogenation of methanol by ruthenium tris(triarylphosphine) complexes [RuCl₂{P(C₆H₄X-4)₃}₃] at 64 °C found that the activity increased with σ_p : F > H > Me > OMe [164]. The product selectivity also showed a dependence on σ_p . [RuCl₂{P(C₆H₄F-4)₃}₃] produced only formaldehyde and dimethoxymethane, whereas the complexes of the tolyl- and methoxyphenyl-phosphines formed only dimethoxymethane and methyl formate, and [RuCl₂(PPh₃)₃] gave all three products.

6.12. Amination

Metallocene-bridged diphosphines have been screened as ligands for palladium(II) catalysts for the amination of 4bromotoluene and 4-bromobiphenyl by morpholine. It was found that ligands bearing electron-withdrawing aryl substituents showed poor activity [98]. For the amination of 4bromotoluene (Scheme 25) in dioxane at 100 °C, Fe(η^5 -C₅H₄PPh₂)₂ gave 63% conversion in 20 min, whereas Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆F₅)₂}₂ gave only 13% conversion. For the amination of the more reactive 4-bromobiphenyl Fe(η^5 -C₅H₄PPh₂)₂ gave 60% conversion in 10 min, whereas Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆F₅)₂}₂ gave only 12% conversion. The diphosphine ligands bearing bulky electron-donating substituents, Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆H₄Pr^{*i*}-2)₂}₂ and Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆H₄OMe-2)₂]₂, showed the highest activities for both aminations giving almost quantitative conversions. It was concluded from the data that activity increases with the bulk and electron-donating ability of the phosphine substituents. It is the electron-withdrawing nature of pentafluorophenyl that leads to the low activity of the catalyst derived from $Fe\{\eta^5-C_5H_4P(C_6F_5)_2\}_2$.

6.13. Suzuki coupling

Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆F₅)₂}₂ was assessed as a ligand for palladium(II) catalysts for the Suzuki coupling of 4bromotoluene and 4-methoxyphenylboronic acid in dioxane at 100 °C [98]. Under the conditions of the study the catalyst derived from Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆F₅)₂}₂ gave a yield of the product 4-methyl-4'-methoxybiphenyl of 52% after 10 min, which was similar to that given by [Fe(η^5 -C₅H₄PPh₂)₂] (60%), but lower than the quantitative yields obtained with [Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆H₄Prⁱ-2)₂]₂] and [Fe{ η^5 -C₅H₄P(C₆H₄OMe-2)₂]₂]. As for amination (see Section 6.12) high activity is associated with bulky, electron-donating phosphine substituents.

6.14. Heck coupling

A series of BIPI ligands (Scheme 26) has been assessed as ligands for the palladium(II) catalyzed intramolecular Heck reaction [62,165]. For the reaction in Scheme 26 after 18 h the ligand $Ar = C_6H_3F_2$ -3,5, R = S-Ph yielded 39% of product with 78.1% ee, and $Ar = C_6H_3F_2$ -3,5, R = R-C₆H₃F₂-3,5 yielded 38% of product with 87.6% ee. In contrast the ligand Ar = Ph, R = S-Ph yielded 68% of product with 44.6% ee and $Ar = C_6H_4Cl$ -4, R = R-C₆H₃F₂-3,5 yielded 25% of product with 80.6% ee. Similar results were obtained for the Heck coupling of similar substrates. The data clearly indicated that electron-withdrawing substituents, especially fluoroaryl groups, had a positive influence on the stereoselectivity, but reduced catalytic activity. It was concluded that electronic properties played a more important role than steric factors in determining the stereoselectivity of the reaction. Although the





reason was not elucidated, it was suggested that this may arise from stabilization of a trigonal bipyramidal transition state. Fluorination of the phenylene group of the BIPI ligand Ar = Ph, R = S-Ph was found to decrease yield, enantioselectivity or both compared to the non-fluorinated ligand: 3-F 73% yield, 26.3% ee, 4-F 46% yield, 52.8% ee, 5-F 15% yield, 52.8% ee, 6-F 15% vield, 27.3% ee.

6.15. Reductive coupling

The reductive coupling of acid chlorides by disilanes is catalysed by palladium(II) phosphine complexes. [PdCl₂{P(C₆H₄F-4)₃}₂] and [PdCl₂(dfppe)] were assessed as catalysts for the coupling depicted in Scheme 27 [166]. [PdCl₂{P(C₆H₄F-4)₃}₂] was found to be less active than [PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂] (83% conversion *cf.* 100% conversion), but produced a similar proportion of the side-product Me₂SiCl{C₆H₄(CO)₂O} (*ca.* 25%). [PdCl₂(dfppe)] was found to be much less active than [PdCl₂(dppe)] (38% conversion *cf.* 95% conversion), and produced a much greater proportion of Me₂SiCl{C₆H₄(CO)₂O} (*ca.* 95%).

6.16. Cyclopropanation and C–H insertion of diazo compounds

Dirhodium(II) carboxylate complexes containing bridging orthometallated phosphines **16** catalyse intramoleclar C–C bond forming reactions of diazo compounds via a mechanism proposed to involve a rhodium carbene intermediate [167]. It has been found that activity increases with the electronwithdrawing nature of the carboxylate substituents, and to a lesser extent the phosphine. It was expected that the electronic and steric properties of the phosphine would be important in controlling the selectivity, and a number of studies have been undertaken.



Rhodium acetate catalysts synthesized from $P(C_6H_4F-3)_3$, $P(C_6H_4F-4)_3$ and $PPh_2(C_6F_5)$ displayed good activity, specificity for cyclopropanation over C–H insertion and aromatic substitution, and moderate to good selectivities for C–H insertion over aromatic substitution [168]. The results were comparable to those of catalysts prepared from other phosphines, such as PPh₃ and P(C₆H₄Me-3)₃. Electron-withdrawing carboxylate and phosphine substituents were found to increase selectivity for aromatic substitution, but steric affects were also important since the catalyst prepared from [Rh₂(μ -O₂CMe)₂{ μ -PPh(C₆F₄Br-2)(C₆H₄)}₂] favoured aromatic substitution (**17**:**18** 7:3) whereas [Rh₂(μ -O₂CMe)₂{ μ -PPh(C₆F₅)(C₆H₄)}₂] favoured C–H insertion (**17**:**18** 2:8) for the reaction in Scheme 28.



Scheme 27.





The selectivity for tertiary over secondary aliphatic C–H insertion was investigated for a range of complexes, including $[Rh_2(\mu-O_2CR)_2\{\mu-PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}_2]$ R = Me, C₃F₇, and $[Rh_2(\mu-O_2CMe)_3\{\mu-PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}]$. In general these three complexes showed similar activities and selectivities to their non-fluorinated analogues, but the results varied with substrate [169]. The doubly metallated complexes showed greater selectivity.

 $\label{eq:hardenergy} \begin{array}{ll} [Rh_2(\mu\mathcal{-}O_2CMe)_2\{\mu\mathcal{-}PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}_2] & and & [Rh_2(\mu\mathcal{-}O_2CMe)_3\{\mu\mathcal{-}PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}_1] \mbox{ were also assessed as catalysts for the cyclization in Scheme 29 [170]. Endo,endo-[Rh_2(\mu\mathcal{-}O_2CMe)_2\{\mu\mathcal{-}PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}_2] & and & endo,exo\mathcal{-}[Rh_2(\mu\mathcal{-}O_2CMe)_2\{\mu\mbox{-}PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}_2] & and & endo,exo\mathcal{-}[Rh_2(\mu\mbox{-}O_2CMe)_2\{\mu\mbox{-}PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}_2] & gave 26\% \mbox{ and } 20\% \mbox{ de, respectively. A mixture of the two isomers gave 30\% \mbox{ de. In contrast } [Rh_2(\mu\mbox{-}O_2CMe)_3\{\mu\mbox{-}PPh(C_6F_5)(C_6H_4)\}] & gave \mbox{ only } 14\% \mbox{ de.} \end{array}$

In comparison to chiral $[Rh_2(\mu-O_2CMe)_2\{\mu-PR_2-(C_6H_3R')\}_2]$ catalysts prepared from non-fluorinated triarylphosphines, such as PPh₃ and P(C₆H₄Me-3)₃, the catalyst prepared from P(C₆H₄F-4)₃ showed moderate to good enantioselectivity for a variety of C–H insertion reactions [171].

6.17. Silane alcoholysis

The electron-withdrawing effect of fluorine has been found to have a positive effect on the diastereoslectivity of the reaction depicted in Scheme 30 [172]. The diastereomeric ratio increased in the order $Ar = C_6H_4Me-4$ (89:11) < Ph (90:10) < C_6H_4F-4 (93:7) < $C_6H_3F_2-3$,5 (97:3).

6.18. Photoisomerization

[CuCl{PPh₂(C₆F₅)}] has been assessed as a catalyst for the photoisomerization of norbornadiene to quadricyclene and *trans*-stilbene to *cis*-stilbene, but was found to show very little activity in comparison to [CuCl(PEt₃)] and [CuCl{P(C₆H₄Me-4)}] [173]. It was suggested that the bulk of the ligand disfavoured coordination of the alkene, which was supported by the minimal activity of [CuCl{P(C₆H₄Me-2)}].

6.19. Diene cycloisomerization

The dication $[Pt(dppm){P(C_6F_5)_3}]^{2+}$, formed *in situ* by addition of silver tetrafluoroborate and $P(C_6F_5)_3$ to $[Pt(dppm)Cl_2]$ in nitromethane, showed a low activity for the catalysis of the cycloisomerization shown in Scheme 31 [174]. After 3 h the yield was 53% with a diastereomeric ratio of 24:1. In comparison the catalysts formed by PMe₃ and PEt₃ gave yields of 94% and 87%, respectively and diastereomeric ratios of 12:1 and 20:1, respectively, and the catalyst formed by PPh₃ gave a yield of 64% with a diasereomeric ratio of 24:1 after only 48 min.

6.20. Alkyne cyclotrimerization

Although [Ir(OMe)(COD)(dfppe)] was found to display catalytic activity for the trimerization of phenylacetylene, its activity was much lower than that of the similar complexes [IrH(η^2 , η'^2 -C₈H₁₂)(dppm)] and [IrH(COD)(dppe)] [175]. Furthermore, in contrast to [IrH(COD)(dppm)] and





Scheme 32.

[IrH(COD)(dppe)] which gave almost exclusively 1,2,4triphenylbenzene, [Ir(OMe)(COD)(dfppe)] produced predominantly polyphenylacetylene, similar to that obtained with [IrH-(COD)(PR₃)₂] [176].

7. Fluoroarylphosphines as ligands for stoichiometric reactions

Aldol and imine condensation reactions of the chiral complex $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)Fe(CO){PPh_2(C_6F_5)}(COMe)]$ (PFCHIRAC) (Scheme 32) have been studied [177] and the stereoselectivities found to be better than those of the non-fluorinated analogue, $[(\eta^{2}-C_{5}H_{5})Fe(CO)(PPh_{3})(COMe)]$ (CHIRAC), which is a wellestablished reagent for asymmetric induction in aldol and imine condensations and Michael type additions [178]. In aldol condensations with benzaldehyde PFCHIRAC formed preferentially the $R_{\rm Fe}^*, S_c^*$ stereoisomer of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Fe-$ (CO){PPh₂(C₆F₅)}{COCH₂CH(OH)Ph}] over the R_{Fe}^*, R_c^* stereoisomer with ratios ranging from 8:1 to 80:1 depending on the metal of the enolate and the presence of a Lewis acid. In contrast, the stereoselectivities of the analogous reaction with CHIRAC were much lower, and for some enolates the $R_{\rm Fe}^*, R_{\rm c}^*$ stereoisomer was favoured. PFCHIRAC also showed good stereoselectivity in its imine condensation with benzylideneaniline, with the $R_{\rm Fe}^*, S_{\rm c}^*$ stereoisomer of $[(\eta^5-C_5H_5)Fe (CO){PPh_2(C_6F_5)}{COCH_2CH(NPh)Ph}$ preferred over the $R_{\rm Fe}^*, R_{\rm c}^*$ stereoisomer in ratios of 8:1 to 50:1. The $R_{\rm Fe}^*, R_{\rm c}^*$ stereoisomer is preferred for CHIRAC, but with lower selectivity. On the basis of IR spectral data an attractive electron donoracceptor interaction between the carbonyl oxygen and pentafluorophenyl substituent was proposed to account for the differences between the reactions of PFCHIRAC and CHIRAC. This was supported by the apparent slow rotation about the P-C₆F₅ bond observed by dynamic NMR spectroscopy [177]. However, extensive dynamic NMR studies of CHIRAC, PFCHIRAC and $[(\eta^5 - C_5H_5)Fe(CO) \{P(C_6H_3F_2 - 3,5)_3\}(COMe)]$ revealed that rotation about the P-C bonds of all three complexes is rapid on the NMR timescale (at a spectrometer frequency of 235 MHz) even at -90 °C, and the process previously observed in PFCHIRAC is rotation about the Fe–P bond with a calculated upper limit of the energy barrier of 66.9 kcal mol⁻¹ [63]. It was concluded that the C=O···C₆F₅ interaction is insignificant at ambient temperature, and does not account for the difference in reaction diastereoselectivity between PFCHIRAC and its nonfluorinated analogue.

8. Final comments

This research described in this review demonstrates that arylfluorophosphines can confer desirable properties on metal complexes. Their steric and electronic properties have been found to enhance the activity and selectivity of some homogeneous catalysts and the stoichiometric reagent PFCHIRAC. The susceptibility of fluoroaryl substituents to nucleophilic attack has allowed the functionalization of coordinated phosphines and the synthesis of complexes of multidentate phosphine ligands. Although the properties of fluoroarylphosphines were determined 30 years ago, it is only relatively recently that their potential is being investigated and their benefits exploited. Recent results suggest that fluoroarylphosphines still have a lot to offer, especially for the synthesis and catalytic properties of complexes of elaborate multidentate ligands.

Acknowledgements

G.C.S. thanks Prof P.G. Pringle and Dr A.C. Marr for many helpful discussions on phosphines and catalysis. G.C.S. and V.I.S. thank the Royal Society for supporting their collaboration.

References

- L.A. Wall, R.E. Donadio, W.J. Pummer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 82 (1960) 4846–4848.
- [2] M. Fild, O. Glemser, I. Hollenberg, Z. Naturforsch. 21b (1966) 920-923.

- [3] M. Fild, O. Glemser, I. Hollenberg, Naturwissenschaften 52 (1965) 590– 591.
- [4] O. bin Shawkataly, M.-L. Chong, H.-K. Fun, K. Sivakumar, Acta Crystallogr. C 52 (1996) 1725–1727.
- [5] O.I. Andreevskaya, S.A. Krupoder, G.G. Furin, G.G. Yakobson, Izv. Sibirsk, Otd. Akad. Nauk. Ser. Khim. Nauk. (1980) 97–104.
- [6] R.M. Bellabarba, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, Organometallics 21 (2002) 5726–5737.
- [7] M.J. McGlinchey, N. Hao, B.G. Sayer, T.-S. Tan, J. Organomet. Chem. 194 (1980) 325–330.
- [8] R. Faggiani, N. Hao, C.J.L. Lock, B.G. Sayer, M.J. McGlinchey, Organometallics 2 (1983) 96–100.
- [9] B. Hagemann, K. Junge, S. Enthaler, M. Michalik, T. Riermeier, A. Monsees, M. Beller, Adv. Synth. Catal. 347 (2005) 1978–1986.
- [10] P. Jutzi, H. Saleske, Chem. Ber. 117 (1984) 222-233.
- [11] A.J. Carty, K.N. Hota, T.W. Ng, H.A. Patel, T.J. O'Connor, Can. J. Chem. 49 (1971) 2706–2711.
- [12] G.G. Furin, A.I. Rezvukhin, M.A. Fedotov, G.G. Yakobson, J. Fluorine Chem. 22 (1983) 231–252.
- [13] N.V. Lukashev, O.I. Artyushin, V.A. Poznyatovskii, Y.K. Grishin, M.A. Kazankova, I.F. Lutsenko, J. Gen. Chem. USSR (Engl. Transl.) 54 (1984) 2136–2137.
- [14] R.M. Bellabarba, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (2001) 512–514.
- [15] V.V. Grushin, W.J. Marshall, G.A. Halliday, F. Davidson, V.A. Petrov, J. Fluorine Chem. 117 (2002) 121–129.
- [16] A. Karipides, C.M. Cosio, Acta Crystallogr. C 45 (1989) 1743.
- [17] A.C. Marr, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, C.L. Pollock, G.C. Saunders, Inorg. Chem. Commun. 9 (2006) 407–409.
- [18] A.C. Marr, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, C.L. Pollock, G.C. Saunders, Organometallics 26 (2007) 2659–2671.
- [19] R.L. Cook, J.G. Morse, Inorg. Chem. 21 (1982) 4103-4105.
- [20] M.J. Atherton, K.S. Coleman, J. Fawcett, J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, A. Karaçar, L.A. Peck, G.C. Saunders, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1995) 4029–4037.
- [21] M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, E.C.M.S. Smyth, Organometallics 25 (2006) 996–1003.
- [22] N.V. Lukashev, O.I. Artyushin, E.I. Lazhko, E.V. Luzikova, M.A. Kazankova, J. Gen. Chem. USSR 60 (1990) 1374–1382.
- [23] Y.A. Veits, E.V. Mutsenek, E.G. Neganova, I.P. Beletskaya, Russ. J. Org. Chem. 37 (2001) 1583–1586.
- [24] P.A. Chase, M. Gagliardo, M. Lutz, A.L. Spek, G.P.M. van Klink, G. van Koten, Organometallics 24 (2005) 2016–2019.
- [25] A. Karaçar, M. Freytag, P.G. Jones, R. Bartsch, R. Schmutzler, Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 628 (2002) 533–544.
- [26] A.G. Sergeev, G.A. Artamkina, I.P. Beletskaya, Russ. J. Org. Chem. 39 (2003) 1741–1752.
- [27] P.G. Eller, D.W. Meek, J. Organomet. Chem. 22 (1970) 631-636.
- [28] N.A.A. Al-Jabar, A.G. Massey, J. Organomet. Chem. 287 (1985) 57-64.
- [29] R.A. Michelin, E. Pizzo, A. Scarso, P. Sgarbossa, G. Strukul, A. Tassan, Organometallics 24 (2005) 1012–1017.
- [30] S.J. Higgins, W. Levason, Inorg. Chem. 24 (1985) 1105-1107.
- [31] W.R. Cullen, A.W. Wu, J. Fluorine Chem. 8 (1976) 183-187.
- [32] C.M. Woodward, C. Hughes, A.G. Massey, J. Organomet. Chem. 112 (1976) 9–19.
- [33] L.I. Goryunov, J. Grobe, V.D. Shteingarts, B. Krebs, A. Lindemann, E.-U. Würthwein, C. Mück-Lichtenfeld, Chem. Eur. J. (2000) 4612–4622.
- [34] J. Burdon, I.N. Rozhkov, G.M. Perry, J. Chem. Soc. C (1969) 2615–2617.
- [35] H. Gopal, C.E. Snyder Jr., C. Tamborski, J. Fluorine Chem. 14 (1979) 511–518.
- [36] S.S. Dua, R.C. Edmondson, H. Gilman, J. Organomet. Chem. 24 (1970) 703–707.
- [37] H.R. Hanna, J.M. Miller, Can. J. Chem. 57 (1979) 1011–1017.
- [38] C. Tamborski, U.S. Patent 3,499,041 (1970).
- [39] R.J. de Pasquale, C. Tamborski, J. Organomet. Chem. 13 (1968) 273– 282.
- [40] S. Sasaki, Y. Tanabe, M. Yoshifuji, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 72 (1999) 563– 572.

- [41] Y.A. Veits, N.B. Karlstedt, A.V. Churchuryukin, I.P. Beletskaya, Russ. J. Org. Chem. 36 (2000) 750–756.
- [42] R.M. Bellabarba, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, Organometallics 22 (2003) 1802–1810.
- [43] U.W. Meier, F. Hollmann, U. Thewalt, M. Klinga, M. Leskelä, B. Rieger, Organometallics 22 (2003) 3905–3914.
- [44] D.I. Nichols, J. Chem. Soc. A (1969) 1471-1473.
- [45] R. Wursche, T. Debaerdemaeker, M. Klinga, B. Rieger, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 9 (2000) 2063–2070.
- [46] D.P. Bernal, N. Bankey, R.C. Cockayne, E. Fossum, J. Polym. Sci. A 40 (2002) 1456–1467.
- [47] M.L. Clarke, D. Ellis, K.L. Mason, A.G. Orpen, P.G. Pringle, R.L. Wingad, D.A. Zaher, R.T. Baker, Dalton Trans. (2005) 1294–1300.
- [48] R. Fischer, J. Langer, A. Malassa, D. Walther, H. Görls, G. Vaughn, Chem. Comm. (2006) 2510–2512.
- [49] C.-A. Carraz, E.J. Ditzel, G.A. Orpen, D.D. Ellis, P.G. Pringle, G.J. Sunley, Chem. Comm. (2000) 1277–1278.
- [50] L.I. Goryunov, J. Grobe, V.D. Shteingarts, Russ. J. Org. Chem. 41 (2005) 1710–1711.
- [51] N. Kongprakaiwoot, M.S. Bultman, R.L. Luck, E. Urnezius, Inorg. Chim. Acta 358 (2005) 3423–3429.
- [52] J.M. Birchall, R.N. Haszeldine, J.O. Morley, J. Chem. Soc. C (1970) 456–462.
- [53] V.I. Sorokin, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, Mendeleev Commun. 16 (2006) 171–172.
- [54] G. Hogarth, T. Norman, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1996) 1077-1085.
- [55] G. Hogarth, T. Norman, Inorg. Chim. Acta 254 (1997) 167–171.
- [56] N. Kongprakaiwoot, R.L. Luck, E. Urnezius, J. Organomet. Chem. 689 (2004) 3350–3356.
- [57] C. Corcoran, J. Fawcett, S. Friedrichs, J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, D.R. Russell, G.C. Saunders, A.M. Stuart, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (2000) 161–172.
- [58] R.D.W. Kemmitt, D.I. Nichols, R.D. Peacock, J. Chem. Soc. A (1968) 2149–2152.
- [59] J. Fawcett, S. Friedrichs, J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, V. McKee, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, D.R. Russell, G.C. Saunders, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1998) 1477–1484.
- [60] H. Gao, Y. Ohgomori, J. Mol. Catal. A 96 (1995) 25-30.
- [61] C.A. Busacca, J.C. Lorenz, N. Grinberg, N. Haddad, M. Hrapchak, B. Latli, H. Lee, P. Sabila, A. Saha, M. Sarvestani, S. Shen, R. Varsolona, X. Wei, C.H. Senanayake, Org. Lett. 7 (2005) 4277–4280.
- [62] C.A. Busacca, D. Grossbach, R.C. So, E.M. O'Brien, E.M. Spinelli, Org. Lett. 5 (2003) 595–598.
- [63] S.G. Davies, A.E. Derome, J.P. McNally, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 113 (1991) 2854–2861.
- [64] L. Hao, I.R. Jobe, J.J. Vittal, R.J. Puddephat, Organometallics 14 (1995) 2781–2789.
- [65] G.Y. Li, P.J. Fagan, P.L. Watson, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 40 (2001) 1106–1109.
- [66] W.E. McEwen, A.B. Janes, J.W. Knapczyk, V.L. Kyllingstad, W.-I. Shiau, S. Shore, J.H. Smith, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100 (1978) 7304– 7311.
- [67] H.B. Stegmann, H.-M. Kühne, G. Wax, K. Scheffler, Phos. Sulf. 13 (1982) 331–336.
- [68] T. Albers, P.G. Edwards, Chem. Comm. (2007) 858-860.
- [69] J.W. Rakshys, R.W. Taft, W.A. Sheppard, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90 (1968) 5236–5243.
- [70] G. Märkl, G. Yu Jin, Tetrahedron Lett. 21 (1980) 3467-3470.
- [71] P.M. Kapoor, D.D. Pathak, G. Gaur, M. Kutty, J. Organomet. Chem. 276 (1984) 167–170.
- [72] R.F. De Ketelaere, E.G. Kleays, G.P. Van Der Kelen, Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 80 (1971) 253–255.
- [73] J.A. van Doorn, N. Meijboom, Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 111 (1992) 170–177.
- [74] A.W. Johnson, H.L. Jones, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90 (1968) 5232-5236.
- [75] C.K. Mirabelli, D.T. Hill, L.F. Faucette, F.L. McCabe, G.R. Girard, D.B. Bryan, B.M. Sutton, J. O'Leary Bartus, S.T. Crooke, R.K. Johnson, J. Med. Chem. 30 (1987) 2181–2190.

- [76] F. Leroux, G. Mangano, M. Schlosser, Eur. J. Org. Chem. (2005) 5049– 5054.
- [77] H. Schindlbauer, Chem. Ber. 100 (1967) 3432-3437.
- [78] O. bin Shawkataly, J. Singh, H.-K. Fun, K. Sivakumar, Acta Cryst. C52 (1996) 2243–2245.
- [79] W. Leitner, M. Bühl, R. Fornika, C. Six, W. Baumann, E. Dinjus, M. Kessler, C. Krüger, A. Rufińska, Organometallics 18 (1999) 1196–1206.
- [80] L.A. van der Veen, M.D.K. Boele, F.R. Bregman, P.C.J. Kamer, P.W.N.M. van Leeuwen, K. Goubitz, J. Fraanje, H. Schenk, C. Bo, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 11616–11626.
- [81] R.D. Chambers, D.J. Spring, J. Fluorine Chem. 1 (1971/72) 309-320.
- [82] T.R.B. Jones, J.M. Miller, S.A. Gardner, M.D. Rausch, Can. J. Chem. 57 (1979) 335–341.
- [83] S.A. Sicree, C. Tamborski, J. Fluorine Chem. 59 (1992) 269–273.
- [84] R.M. Bellabarba, G.C. Saunders, Polyhedron 23 (2004) 2659-2664.
- [85] P. Panne, D. Naumann, B. Hoge, J. Fluorine Chem. 112 (2001) 283-286.
- [86] M. Cooke, M. Green, D. Kirkpatrick, J. Chem. Soc. A (1968) 1507-1510.
- [87] N. Bricklebank, S.M. Godfrey, C.A. McAuliffe, P. Deplano, M.L. Mercuri, J.M. Sheffield, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1998) 2379–2382.
- [88] L.S. Kobrina, Fluorine Chem. Rev. 7 (1974) 1–114.
- [89] H.C.E. McFarlane, W. McFarlane, Polyhedron 7 (1988) 1875–1879.
- [90] J.R. Goerlich, V. Plack, R. Schmutzler, J. Fluorine Chem. 76 (1996) 29– 35.
- [91] Y.A. Veits, N.B. Karlstedt, V.L. Foss, I.P. Beletskaya, Russ. J. Org. Chem. 34 (1998) 525–529.
- [92] B. Drießen-Hölscher, J. Kralik, F. Agel, C. Steffens, C. Hu, Adv. Synth. Catal. 346 (2004) 979–982.
- [93] K.A. Watson, F.L. Palmieri, J.W. Connell, Macromolecules 35 (2002) 4968–4974.
- [94] K. Mashima, K. Kusano, N. Sato, Y. Matsumura, K. Nozaki, H. Kumobayashi, N. Sayo, Y. Hori, T. Ishizaki, S. Akutagawa, H. Takaya, J. Org. Chem. 59 (1994) 3064–3076.
- [95] S. Lin, J.M. Miller, J. Fluorine Chem. 9 (1977) 161-169.
- [96] F.C. Krebs, P.S. Larsen, J. Larsen, C.S. Jacobsen, C. Boutton, N. Thorup, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 1208–1216.
- [97] (a) L.R. Falvello, J. Forniés, C. Fortuño, A. Martín, A.P. Martínez-Sariñena, Organometallics 16 (1997) 5849–5856;
 (b) N. Chaouche, J. Forniés, C. Fortuño, A. Kribii, A. Martín, P. Karipidis, A.C. Tsipis, C.A. Tsipis, Organometallics 23 (2004) 1797–1810;
 (c) I. Ara, N. Chaouche, J. Forniés, C. Fortuño, A. Kribii, A.C. Tsipis,

(c) I. Ara, N. Chaouche, J. Formes, C. Fortuno, A. Kribil, A.C. Tsipis, Organometallics 25 (2006) 1084–1091.

- [98] O.V. Gusev, T.A. Peganova, A.M. Kalsin, N.V. Vologdin, P.V. Petrovskii, K.A. Lyssenko, A.V. Tsvetkov, I.P. Beletskaya, Organometallics 25 (2006) 2750–2760.
- [99] P.G. Pringle, presented at Homogeneous Catalysis Symposium, St. Andrews University, 31st May 2007.
- [100] C. Hansch, A. Leo, R.W. Taft, Chem. Rev. 91 (1991) 165-195.
- [101] C.A. Tolman, Chem. Rev. 77 (1977) 313-348.
- [102] (a) A.L. Fernandez, M.R. Wilson, A. Prock, W.P. Giering, Organometallics 20 (2001) 3429–3435;
 (b) M.R. Wilson, A. Prock, W.P. Giering, A.L. Fernandez, C.M. Haar, S.P. Nolan, B.M. Foxman, Organometallics 21 (2002) 2758–2763.
- [103] R.T. Sanderson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105 (1983) 2259-2261.
- [104] A. Bondi, J. Phys. Chem. 68 (1964) 441–451.
- [105] F.H. Allen, O. Kennard, D.G. Watson, L. Brammer, A.G. Orpen, R. Taylor, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II (1987) S1–S19.
- [106] B.E. Smart, in: M. Hudlicky, A.E. Pavlath (Eds.), Chemistry of Organic Fluorine Compounds II: A Critical Review, ACS Monograph 187, American Chemical Society, Washington DC, USA, 1995, p. 979.
- [107] M.J. Atherton, J. Fawcett, J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, A. Karaçar, D.R. Russell, G.C. Saunders, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1996) 3215–3220.
- [108] R.M. Bellabarba, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, Acta Crystallogr. E 61 (2005) m1588–m1589.
- [109] D.R. Lide (Ed.), Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 87th ed., CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA, 2006, pp. 9–60.
- [110] C.M. Haar, J. Huang, S.P. Nolan, J.L. Petersen, Organometallics 17 (1998) 5018–5024.

- [111] M.J. Atherton, J. Fawcett, J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, S.M. Martin, D.R. Russell, G.C. Saunders, J. Organomet. Chem. 555 (1998) 67–79.
- [112] R.K. Merwin, R.C. Schnabel, J.D. Koola, D.M. Roddick, Organometallics 11 (1992) 2972–2978.
- [113] H.-A. Brune, E. Hupfer, G. Schmidtberg, A. Baur, J. Organomet. Chem. 424 (1992) 225–241.
- [114] M. Selke, W.L. Karney, S.I. Khan, C.S. Foote, Inorg. Chem. 34 (1995) 5715–5720.
- [115] J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, A. Karaçar, G.C. Saunders, unpublished results.
- [116] J. Chatt, B.L. Shaw, J. Chem. Soc. A (1966) 1437-1442.
- [117] Q. Peng, Y. Yang, Y. Yuan, J. Mol. Cat. A 219 (2004) 175-181.
- [118] J.P. Farr, M.M. Olmstead, A.L. Balch, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102 (1980) 6654–6656.
- [119] X. Zhang, M. Wei, M. Pu, X. Li, H. Chen, D.G. Evans, X. Duan, J. Solid State Chem. 178 (2005) 2701–2708.
- [120] G.C. Saunders, V.I. Sorokin, in preparation.
- [121] J. Chatt, R.H. Watson, J. Chem. Soc. (1961) 4980.
- [122] M.F. Ernst, D.M. Roddick, Inorg. Chem. 28 (1989) 1624-1627.
- [123] R.J. Kulawiec, E.M. Holt, M. Lavin, R.H. Crabtree, Inorg. Chem. 26 (1987) 2559–2561.
- [124] R.J. Kulawiec, J.W. Faller, R.H. Crabtree, Organometallics 9 (1990) 745–755.
- [125] M. Cao, L.V. Do, N.W. Hoffman, M.-L. Kwan, J.K. Little, J.M. McGilvray, C.B. Morris, B.C. Söderberg, A. Wierzbicki, T.R. Cundari, C.H. Lake, E.J. Valente, Organometallics 20 (2001) 2270–2279.
- [126] M.J. Burk, R.H. Crabtree, E.M. Holt, J. Organomet. Chem. 341 (1988) 495–509.
- [127] J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, D.R. Russell, G.C. Saunders, M.J. Atherton, Polyhedron 15 (1996) 173–175.
- [128] P. Battioni, O. Brigaud, H. Desvaux, D. Mansuy, T.G. Traylor, Tetrahedron Lett. 32 (1991) 2893–2896.
- [129] W. Mohr, G.A. Stark, H. Jiao, J.A. Gladysz, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. (2001) 925–933.
- [130] S. Park, M. Pontier-Johnson, D.M. Roundhill, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 111 (1989) 3101–3103.
- [131] S. Park, M. Pontier-Johnson, D.M. Roundhill, Inorg. Chem. 29 (1990) 2689–2697.
- [132] L. Villanueva, M. Arroyo, S. Bernès, H. Torrens, Chem. Comm. (2004) 1942–1943.
- [133] R.P. Hughes, D.C. Lindner, A.L. Rheingold, G.P.A. Yap, Organometallics 15 (1996) 5678–5686.
- [134] (a) M.J. Atherton, J. Fawcett, J.H. Holloway, E.G. Hope, D.R. Russell, G.C. Saunders, J. Organomet. Chem. 582 (1999) 163–172;
 (b) R.M. Bellabarba, M. Nieuwenhuyzen, G.C. Saunders, Inorg. Chim. Acta 323 (2001) 78–88.
- [135] R.M. Bellabarba, G.C. Saunders, S. Scott, Inorg. Chem. Commun. 5 (2002) 15–18.
- [136] O. Kaufhold, A. Stasch, P.G. Edwards, F.E. Hahn, Chem. Commun. (2007) 1822–1824.
- [137] P.E. Garrou, Chem. Rev. 85 (1985) 171-185.
- [138] R. Heyn, C.H. Görbitz, Organometallics 21 (2002) 2781–2784.
- [139] J.Fawcett, E.G. Hope, L.A. Peck, Acta Crystallogr. C 54 (1998) 1752–1753.
 [140] H.G. Ang, W.L. Kwik, W.K. Leong, B.F.G. Johnson, J. Lewis, P.R.
- Raithby, J. Organomet. Chem. 396 (1990) C43–C46.
 [141] (a) B.L. Lucht, M.J. Poss, M.A. King, T.G. Richmond, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1991) 400–401;
 (b) C.M. Anderson, M. Crespo, G. Ferguson, A.J. Lough, R.J. Puddephat, Organometallics 11 (1992) 1177–1181.
- [142] S.D. Perera, B.L. Shaw, M. Thornton-Pett, Inorg. Chim. Acta 233 (1995) 103–107.
- [143] (b) F.L. Barceló, J.C. Besteiro, P. Lahuerta, C. Foces-Foces, F.H. Cano, M. Martínez-Ripoll, J. Organomet. Chem. 270 (1984) 343–351;
 (b) F. Barceló, P. Lahuerta, M.A. Ubeda, C. Foces-Foces, F.H. Cano, M. Martinez-Ripoll, J. Organomet. Chem. 301 (1986) 375–384;
 (c) F. Barceló, P. Lahuerta, M.A. Ubeda, C. Foces-Foces, A. Cantarero, F. Sanz, J. Organomet. Chem. 309 (1986) 199–208;
 (d) J.C. Besteiro, P. Lahuerta, M. Sanatú, I. Solana, F.A. Cotton, R. Llusar, W. Schwotzer, Polyhedron 7 (1988) 87–96.

- [144] F. Barceló, P. Lahuerta, M.A. Ubeda, C. Foces-Foces, F.H. Cano, M. Martinez-Ripoll, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1985) 43–44.
- [145] P. Lahuerta, R. Martínez, F. Sanz, F. Torrens, J. Chem. Res. Synopses (1988) 22–23, J. Chem. Res. Miniprint (1988) 261–272.
- [146] C.P. Casey, E.L. Pausen, E.W. Beuttenmueller, B.R. Proft, L.M. Petrovich, B.A. Matter, D.R. Powell, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 11817– 11825.
- [147] W.R. Moser, C.J. Papile, D.A. Brannon, R.A. Duwell, S.J. Weininger, J. Mol. Cat. 41 (1987) 271–292.
- [148] H. Klein, R. Jackstell, K.-D. Wiese, C. Borgmann, M. Beller, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 40 (2001) 3408–3411.
- [149] A.S.C. Chan, C.-C. Pai, T.-K. Yang, S.-M. Chen, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1995) 2031–2032.
- [150] E.L. Diz, A. Neels, H. Stoekli-Evans, G. Süss-Fink, Polyhedron 20 (2001) 2771–2780.
- [151] D.P. Fairlie, B. Bosnich, Organometallics 7 (1988) 936-945.
- [152] M.J. Howard, M.D. Jones, M.S. Roberts, S.A. Taylor, Catal. Today 18 (1993) 325–354.
- [153] C. Bianchini, A. Meli, W. Oberhauser, P.W.N.M. van Leeuwen, M.A. Zuideveld, Z. Freixa, P.C.J. Kamer, A.L. Spek, O.V. Gusev, A.M. Kal'sin, Organometallics 22 (2003) 2409–2421.
- [154] A.M. Kalsin, N.V. Vologdin, T.A. Peganova, P.V. Petrovskii, K.A. Lyssenko, F.M. Dolgushin, O.V. Gusev, J. Organomet. Chem. 691 (2006) 921–927.
- [155] A.M. Trzeciak, H. Bartosz-Bechowski, Z. Ciunik, K. Niesyty, J. Ziółkowski, Can. J. Chem. 79 (2001) 752–759.
- [156] (a) F.C. Rix, M. Brookhart, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 117 (1995) 1137–1138;
 (b) M. Peuckert, W. Keim, Organometallics 2 (1983) 594–597.
- [157] (a) L.K. Johnson, C.M. Killian, M. Brookhart, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 117 (1995) 6414–6415;
 - (b) B.L. Small, M. Brookhart, A.M.A. Bennett, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 4049–4050.
- [158] (a) E. Drent, P.H.M. Budzelaar, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 663–682;
 (b) C. Bianchini, A. Meli, Coord. Chem. Rev. 225 (2005) 35–66;
 (c) R.A. Robertson, D.J. Cole-Hamilton, Coord. Chem. Rev. 225 (2002) 67–90.
- [159] K.A. Jørgensen, Chem. Rev. 89 (1989) 431-458.

- [160] C.Y. Legault, A.B. Charette, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 8966-8967.
- [161] K. Junge, B. Hagemann, S. Enthaler, A. Spannenberg, M. Michalik, G. Oehme, A. Monsees, T. Riermeier, M. Beller, Tetrahedron Asymm. 15 (2004) 2621–2631.
- [162] M. Tokunaga, Y. Wakatsuki, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 37 (1998) 2867–2869.
- [163] M. Tokunaga, T. Suzuki, N. Koga, T. Fukushima, A. Horiuchi, Y. Wakatsuki, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 123 (2001) 11917–11924.
- [164] L.-C. Yang, T. Ishida, T. Yamakawa, S. Shinoda, J. Mol. Cat. A 108 (1996) 87–93.
- [165] C.A. Busacca, D. Grossbach, S.J. Campbell, Y. Dong, M.C. Eriksson, R.E. Harris, P.-J. Jones, J.-Y. Kim, J.C. Lorenz, K.B. McKellop, E.M. O'Brien, F. Qiu, R.D. Simpson, L. Smith, R.C. So, E.M. Spinelli, J. Vitous, C. Zavattaro, J. Org. Chem. 69 (2004) 5187–5195.
- [166] T.E. Krafft, J.D. Rich, P.J. McDermott, J. Org. Chem. 55 (1990) 5430– 5432.
- [167] M.P. Doyle, Chem. Rev. 86 (1986) 919–939.
- [168] F. Estevan, P. Lahuerta, J. Pérez-Prieto, M. Sanaú, S.-E. Stiriba, M.A. Ubeda, Organometallics 16 (1997) 880–886.
- [169] F. Estevan, P. Lahuerta, J. Pérez-Prieto, I. Pereira, S.-E. Stiriba, Organometallics 17 (1998) 3442–3447.
- [170] P. Lahuerta, I. Pereira, J. Pérez-Prieto, M. Sanaú, S.-E. Stiriba, D.F. Taber, J. Organomet. Chem. 612 (2000) 36–45.
- [171] F. Estevan, K. Hebst, P. Lahuerta, M. Barberis, J. Pérez-Prieto, Organometallics 20 (2001) 950–957.
- [172] D.R. Schmidt, S.J. O'Malley, J.L. Leighton, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 125 (2003) 1190–1191.
- [173] M. Onishi, K. Hiraki, Inorg. Chim. Acta 202 (1992) 27-30.
- [174] J.A. Feducia, A.N. Campbell, M.Q. Doherty, M. R. Gagné, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 13290–13297.
- [175] M. Fabbian, N. Marsich, E. Farnetti, Inorg. Chim. Acta 357 (2004) 2881– 2888.
- [176] M. Marigo, D. Millos, N. Marisch, E. Farnetti, J. Mol. Cat. A 206 (2003) 319–329.
- [177] I. Ojima, H.B. Kwon, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 110 (1988) 5617-5621.
- [178] (b) S.G. Davies, Pure Appl. Chem. 60 (1988) 13–20;
 (b) S.G. Davies, Aldrichimica Acta 23 (1990) 31–37.